UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

The Link Between Coffee and Type 2 Diabetes: Chlorogenic Acid and Intestinal Glucose

Absorption

by

Jasmine Maria Tunnicliffe

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE

DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

FACULTY OF KINESIOLOGY

CALGARY, ALBERTA

DECEMBER, 2010

© Jasmine Maria Tunnicliffe 2010

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled "The Link Between Coffee and Type 2 Diabetes: Chlorogenic Acid and Intestinal Glucose Absorption" submitted by Jasmine Maria Tunnicliffe in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science.

Supervisor, Jane Shearer Ph.D. Faculty of Kinesiology

Raylene A. Reimer RD, Ph.D. Faculty of Kinesiology

Dustin Hittel, Ph.D. Faculty of Kinesiology

inthea annun Cynthia Mannion, RN, Ph.D.

ynthia Mannion, RN, Ph.D. Faculty of Nursing

Dec 3, 2010

Date

Abstract

Coffee ingestion is associated with reduced risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D). Coffee is the primary source of chlorogenic acid (CGA). The aim of this project was to examine the mechanisms by which CGA regulate blood glucose and insulin response, an impairment of which can lead to T2D. Sprague-Dawley (n=12) rats underwent a meal tolerance test with and without CGA in a cross-over design to measure blood glucose, insulin, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1). CGA ingestion significantly attenuated blood glucose both and GIP response while no difference was noted with GLP-1 or insulin. Secondly, the NCI-H716 human colon cell line was incubated with CGA or its main metabolites (caffeic acid and ferulic acid); results showed no effect on GLP-1 release. This work shows that CGA can reduce postprandial blood glucose rise and has potential for development into an anti-diabetic agent.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Jane Shearer, for taking a chance and accepting me as a student. I sincerely appreciate everything you've done for me, especially the opportunity to write and publish two review articles.

I would also like to thank Lindsay Eller for her endless support and helpful suggestions; to say I couldn't have done this without you doesn't say enough.

To Dr. Raylene Reimer: thank you for your knowledge and patience as I worked through the cell culture experiments and for always being willing to answer my questions.

To Dr. Dustin Hittel, your enthusiasm for research is inspirational. Thank-you for your assistance with cell culture techniques and strategies.

Thank-you to the numerous students in the Hittel, Shearer and Reimer labs who assisted me in various capacities along the way, as well as Olivia Brusselers for being a friendly ear and lending a helping hand whenever I needed it.

Finally, thank-you to my husband for his patience during the tough times.

Approval Page	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures and Illustrations	
List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature	ix
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Study Background	
1.2 Study Objectives	2
1.3 Thesis Composition	
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Chlorogenic acid	6
2.1.1 Content in Coffee	
2.1.2 Absorption	
2.1.3 Antioxidant Capacity	
2.1.4 CGA In Vivo	
2.1.4.1 Small Intestine	
2.1.4.2 Liver	
2.2 Blood Glucose Management.	
2.2.1 Intestinal Glucose Absorption	
2.2.2 Insulin Control	
2.2.3 Gastrointestinal Hormones	
2.2.3.1 GIP	
2.2.3.2 GLP-1	
2.3 Background Summary	
2.4 Research Question	
CHAPTER THREE: CGA IN VIVO	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Methods	
3.2.1 Animals	
3.2.2 Surgery	
3.2.3 Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry	
3.2.4 Experimental Protocol	
3.2.5 Plasma Measures	
3.2.6 Statistical Analysis	
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Baseline Measurements	
3.3.2 Blood Glucose	
3.3.3 Incretins	
3.3.4 Insulin & Non-esterified Fatty Acids	
3.3.5 Gastric Emptying	

Table of Contents

3.4 Discussion	. 37
3.5 Conclusion	. 41
CHAPTER FOUR: CGA IN VITRO	. 42
4.1 Introduction	. 42
4.2 Methods	. 43
4.2.1 Cell Model	. 43
4.2.2 Cell Culture Conditions	. 45
4.2.3 Secretion Studies	. 45
4.2.4 Secretion Analysis	. 46
4.2.5 Glucose Uptake	. 46
4.2.6 Data Analysis	, 47
4.3 Results	. 47
4.3.1 Experiment 1	. 47
4.3.2 Experiment 2	. 48
4.3.3 Experiment 3	. 54
4.4 Discussion	. 54
4.5 Conclusion	57
CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	59
5.1 Discussion	59
5.1.1 Introduction	59
5.1.2 Study Strengths & Limitations	59
5.1.2.1 Acute vs. Chronic Studies	59
5.1.2.2 Animal vs. Human Studies	60
5.1.2.3 Cell Culture	61
5.1.2.4 Plasma Analysis	62
5.1.2.5 CGA vs. Coffee	62
5.1.2.6 Glucose Absorption vs. Appearance	63
5.1.3 Study Summary	63
5.2 Future Research Directions	64
5.3 Conclusion	66
BIBLIOGRAPHY	67
AFFENDIA A: ETHICAL APPKUVAL	85
APPENDIX B. ORAL GAVAGE COMPOSITION	0.0
THE LEVELY D. ORAL OAVAGE COWFOSTION	86

List of Tables

Table 1. Coffee and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes	.7
Table 2. CGA Content of Coffee Beans	. 8
Table 3. Baseline Measurements of Experimental Animals	31
Table 4. AUC for Rat Blood Measurements per Treatment	34
Table 5. In Vitro Experiment Summary	44

List of Figures and Illustrations

Figure 1. Structures of Coffee Components	. 10
Figure 2. In Vivo Experimental Protocol	. 29
Figure 3. Rat Postprandial Blood Glucose Response	. 33
Figure 4. Rat Postprandial Plasma Responses over 180min	. 35
Figure 5. Combined Effects of 5-CQA and Glucose on GLP-1 Secretion	. 49
Figure 6. Combined Effects of Caffeic Acid and Glucose on GLP-1 Secretion	. 50
Figure 7. Combined Effects of Ferulic Acid and Glucose on GLP-1 Secretion	. 51
Figure 8. GLP-1 Response of Cells Incubated with 5-CQA over Time	. 52
Figure 9. Effect of 5-CQA Concentration on GLP-1 Secretion	. 53
Figure 10. Glucose Uptake in Cells in Response to 5-CQA Concentration	. 55

.

Symbol	Definition
AUC	Area under the curve
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CA	Caffeic acid
CGA	Chlorogenic acid
CQA	Caffeoylquinic acid
FA	Ferulic acid
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FFA	Free fatty acid
FPG	Fasting plasma glucose
FQA	Feroylquinic acid
GI	Glycemic index
GIP	Glucose-dependent insulinotrophic polypeptide
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GLUT	Glucose transporter
G-6-P	Glucose-6-Phosphate
HeBSS	HEPES buffered salt solution
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
KRB	Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate
MH	Meat hydrosylate
NEFA	Non-esterified free fatty acid
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PCG	Postchallenge glucose
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
SGLT	Sodium glucose co-transporter
TG	Triglyceride

List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature

.

Chapter One: Introduction

1.1 Study Background

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is a serious disease with the prevalence rapidly rising in much of the Western world. T2D is characterized by either the lack of sufficient insulin production or the inability to utilize insulin produced (1). Consequently, T2D results in an insufficient insulin response and elevated blood glucose; in the long term, this can lead to further health complications including cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, blindness and nerve damage (2-4). T2D is therefore associated with a lower quality of life as well as significant health care and economic burdens. By 2020, current statistics predict 3.7 million Canadians will have been diagnosed with T2D, costing our health care system \$16.9 billion per year (5). While T2D is treatable, the disease progressively worsens and requires increased intervention (1, 6). Lifestyle changes such as weight management with exercise and diet are usually the first line of defence (7). These strategies are also used as preventative measures, as undergoing moderate intensity exercise for 30min/d provides a 30-50% reduced risk of developing T2D (8, 9). Specific dietary recommendations include reducing sugar and fat intake while increasing consumption of dietary fibre (10). Drug therapy is also commonly prescribed, yet antihyperglycaemic agents have side effects and some have serious contraindications such as increased risk of cardiovascular disease (11).

The risk of developing T2D associated with coffee consumption has been examined worldwide. In 2006 Greenberg and colleagues (12) identified 20 epidemiological studies examining this relationship, with 17 of those reporting a beneficial effect of coffee consumption on blood glucose levels. Since that article, an additional 5 studies have found that coffee consumption is correlated with significantly reduced risk for developing T2D (11-15). Epidemiological studies also show coffee consumption to be correlated to reduced risk of T2D in a dose-dependent manner (13-17). A systematic review by Van dam & Hu (14) found relative risk reductions of 0.65 ± 0.12 (95% confidence interval) with ≥ 6 cups per day. Risk reductions are seen with both decaffeinated and caffeinated coffee and since caffeine is known to impair insulin sensitivity, a component of coffee other than caffeine is likely responsible (18, 19).

Coffee beans contain thousands of constituents, including lipids, proteins, carbohydrates, vitamins, minerals and other components (16, 20-22). Given this, determining which compounds are responsible for the protective effects of coffee on T2D is difficult. Most coffee research has focused on caffeine as the bioactive ingredient and caffeine is known to inhibit muscle glucose uptake, thereby reducing insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance (23). More recently however, findings that coffee and caffeine are not physiologically equivalent have increased the exploration of other coffee constituents (22, 24-27). Of particular interest is CGA, which are the main antioxidants in brewed coffee (24, 28, 29). CGA have been found to reduce intestinal glucose absorption and inhibit glucose-6-phosphatase *in vitro* (30, 31). Thus it is likely that these compounds are involved in mediating coffee's effects on blood glucose and insulin sensitivity.

1.2 Study Objectives

The purpose of this study was to determine the extent that CGA are involved in moderating the glycemic effects attributed to coffee. To accomplish this, 2 experimental models were explored: an *in vivo* acute feeding study using rats in a cross-over design

and an *in vitro* cell culture study using human colon cells incubated with/without CGA. The main outcome of the *in vivo* study was blood glucose, with several other biochemical markers affected by altered glucose assessed including plasma insulin, non-esterified free fatty acids (NEFA), glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and glucose-dependent insulinotrophic polypeptide (GIP). For the *in vitro* study, the primary measurement was secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1, with glucose uptake also being determined.

The main hypothesis for this project was that CGA reduces the rate of glucose absorption along the small intestine. This was expected to result in a reduction of peak blood glucose rise after meal ingestion *in vivo* and/or reduced cellular glucose absorption *in vitro*. Consequently, levels of GLP-1 would be increased with CGA treatment compared to control both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, while GIP secretion would be lower in the animal experiment. Additionally, levels of insulin and NEFA were predicted to correlate with glucose levels in rats, with higher concentrations of insulin produced and lower levels of NEFA measured with increased blood glucose levels.

1.3 Thesis Composition

This thesis is composed of 5 chapters arranged as follows: Chapter 1 is an introduction to the thesis, describing the background for the research done; Chapter 2 consists of a review of the pertinent literature and presents the study objectives; Chapter 3 is a manuscript describing the acute *in vivo* effects of the compound of interest on glucose metabolism in a rat model; Chapter 4 is a manuscript describing cell culture experiments done to establish the *in vitro* effects of the compound on specific hormone release and Chapter 5 provides a general discussion and conclusion to the thesis. Chapters

3 and 4 each contain a short introduction, description of methods used, results and a discussion section specific to the study. References for the thesis in its entirety are found following Chapter 5.

.

.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

Coffee is a widely consumed beverage around the world, brewed and ingested in a variety of forms. It is estimated that ~50-60% of adults in North America consume coffee on a daily basis (32). American adults drank an average of 340mL/d coffee during 1999-2002, while coffee drinkers in Canada consumed an average of 650mL/d (32, 33). Recent epidemiological studies show coffee consumption to be correlated to large risk reductions in T2D. A summary of these studies can be found in Table 1. In small scale clinical trials, coffee consumption has also been linked to lower fasting glucose concentrations, an indicator of improved insulin sensitivity (34). Besides lowering disease incidence, coffee consumption may limit the progression of T2D. Examination of coffee consumption in individuals with impaired fasting glucose (6.1mmol/L \leq fasting plasma glucose (FPG) <7.0mmol/L and postchallenge glucose (PCG) <7.8mmol/L) or impaired glucose tolerance (FPG < 6.1 mmol/L and 7.8 mmol/L \leq PCG ≤ 11.1 mmol/L) show a reduced risk of incident diabetes with reductions in odds ratios of 0.31 and 0.36 among past and current coffee consumers (35). In addition to T2D, habitual coffee consumption may delay the development of symptoms associated with the metabolic syndrome. Metabolic syndrome describes a combination of factors that increase risk for cardiovascular disease and diabetes, including high blood pressure, central obesity (waist circumference over a set value), elevated fasting plasma glucose, and altered lipid profiles (raised triglycerides and reduced HDL cholesterol levels). Hino and colleagues (36) found the frequency of the metabolic syndrome to decrease with increasing coffee consumption. Specifically, coffee consumption was correlated to lower waist

circumference, blood pressure, triglycerides and fasting plasma glucose levels. Of note, these are also risk factors towards the development of T2D. Given that coffee is already a popular, readily available and inexpensive beverage, its use in preventing and/or reducing T2D has widespread health implications. Understanding coffee's mechanisms of action as they relate to glucose management and insulin sensitivity will lead to increased knowledge of how this and other dietary factors alter T2D disease risk. Such information is useful in the development of dietary guidelines as well as the discovery of novel therapeutic targets and nutraceutical formulations. This thesis will focus on the physiological effects of a main coffee constituent, chlorogenic acid.

2.1 Chlorogenic acid

Chlorogenic acid are phenolic compounds responsible for the bitter taste of coffee (37). Phenols are abundant in the diet, found in all plant-based foods and beverages such as chocolate, nuts, fruits, coffee, wine and tea. A simple phenol refers to a compound with a single aromatic ring containing at least one hydroxyl group, while polyphenols have more than one of these rings (38). Phenols are commonly divided into classes that depend on their chemical structure, such as flavonoids and hydroxycinnamic acids (38, 39). CGA fall into the latter category; they are esters of *trans*-cinnamic acids (cinnamates) and quinic acid (28, 40). These polyphenols are abundant in coffee, with the main subclasses including caffeoylquinic acids (CQA), dicaffeoylquinic acids (diCQA) and feruloylquinic acids (FQA) which together constitute 98% of all CGA in coffee (**Table 2**) (28, 37, 40, 41). The predominant CGA in coffee is 5-caffeoylquinic acid (5-CQA) at 30-60% of total CGA (28, 42-45). CQA, diCQA and FQA are esters of

Study	Population	Comparison	RR (95% CI)
MEDLINE published	193,473 males &	0 or ≤ 2 vs. ≥ 6 or	0.65 (0.54-0.78)
cohort studies (14)	females (15-98yrs)	≥7 cups/d	
Nurses' Health Study	88,259 females	0 vs. 2-3 cups/d	0.58 (0.49-0.68)
II (46)	(26-46yrs)		
25 Japanese	17,413 males &	0 vs. 3+ cups/d	0.58 (0.37-0.90)
communities (47)	females		
F3N/FDIC cohort	(40-03yrs)	$0 v \approx 23 cume/d$	0 73 (0 61.0 87)
study	(41-72 vrs)	0 vs. ≥ 5 cups/u	0.75 (0.01-0.87)
ARIC Study (48)	5.414 males	0 vs. 4+ cups/d	0.77 (0.61-0.99)
	6,790 females		0.83 (0.64-1.08)
	(45-64yrs)		
Nurses' Health Study	41,934 males	0 vs. ≥6 cups/d	0.46 (0.26-0.82)
& Health	84,276 females	_	0.71 (0.56-0.89)
Professionals' Follow- up Study (15)	(30-75yrs)		
Iowa Women's	28,812 females	0 vs. 6+ cups/d	0.78 (0.61-1.01)
Health Study (49)	(postmenopausal)	*	
Dutch prospective	17,111 males & females	≤ 2 vs. ≥ 7 cups/d	0.50 (0.35-0.72)
cohort study (50)	(30-60yrs)		
Rancho Bernardo	1,115 males & females	never vs. current	0.36 (0.19-0.68)
Study (35)	(30-105yrs)		
sNHANES-1	7,006 males & females	per 2 cups/d	0.87 (0.78-0.97)
Epidemiological	(32-88yrs)		
Follow-Up Study (51)			
Whitehall II cohort	5,823 males & females	0 vs. 6+ cups/d	No significant
(52)	(35-55yrs)		risk reduction

Table 1. Coffee and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes

Published studies of coffee consumption and the corresponding risk reduction (RR) of

developing T2D. Adapted from (53).

•

Compound	Green coffee beans (mg/g)	Roasted coffee beans (mg/g)
3-CQA	2.45 ± 0.18	0.78 ± 0.03
4-CQA	3.73 ± 0.24	0.86 ± 0.04
5-CQA	29.64 ± 2.08	1.42 ± 0.01
3,4-diCQA	0.85 ± 0.15	0.04 ± 0.00
3,5-diCQA	2.35 ± 0.30	0.02 ± 0.00
4,5-diCQA	1.43 ± 0.32	0.01 ± 0.00
4-FQA	0.15 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.00
5-FQA	1.04 ± 0.05	0.14 ± 0.00

Table 2. CGA Content of Coffee Beans

Chlorogenic acid content of green and roasted Columbian coffee beans. CQA, caffeoylquinic acid; diCQA, dicaffeoylquinic acid; FQA, feruloylquinic acid. Adapted from (54).

7

,

quinic acid and caffeic or ferulic acids respectively. Caffeic acid is the most abundant dietary phenolic acid while ferulic acid is found in high concentrations in grains; however neither are found as free acids but rather are present only in conjugated form (55, 56). While CGA are present in most fruits, they are largely concentrated near and in thepeel and so are less likely to be consumed (55, 57). Also, the actual amounts found are relatively small; for example, one would have to ingest ~1kg of apples to obtain an equivalent dose of CGA as 1 cup of coffee (57). Although blueberries are a good source of CQA, providing 0.5-2g/kg, the high rates of coffee consumption make it the most important dietary source of CGA (28).

2.1.1 Content in Coffee

Green coffee beans contain 4-12% CGA, compared to caffeine at 1-2.5% (**Figure** 1) (40, 58). In fact, the concentrations of caffeine and CGA in green beans are linked, as some CGA forms 1:1 molecular complexes with caffeine (37). During roasting however, the CGA content is greatly reduced due to chemical changes associated with the high heat process. Depending on the desired degree of roast (dark, medium or light), green coffee beans are roasted at 210-240 °C for 10-15min (59). Initially isomerisation and partial hydrolysis occur, releasing quinic acid and the associated cinnamates (56). A portion of CGA are transformed to quinolactones (quinides) (40, 60), while some CGA may get incorporated intact into melanoidins (61). Brewed coffee therefore contains 35-150mg CGA per 100mL, with slightly less found in equivalent volumes of decaffeinated and instant coffees (22, 28). CGA concentration also varies with the coffee species and geographical origin (58). There are two main commercial coffee species: *Coffea arabica*

Figure 1. Structures of Coffee Components



Chemical structures of selected coffee components, including caffeine and chlorogenic acid, adapted from (62).

(arabica) and *Coffea canephora* (robusta); in general, robustas have higher CGA (and caffeine) concentration than arabicas (43). During green coffee bean roasting, hydrolysis, oxidation and polymerisation all lead to substantial decreases in CGA, therefore light roasts have higher amounts than dark roasts (63). The CGA metabolites, mainly caffeic and quinic acids, are undetectable in brewed coffee (64).

2.1.2 Absorption

Controversy exists over the extent to which CGA are absorbed. It is likely that while some CGA is absorbed intact, the rest undergoes hydrolysis with subsequent absorption of the metabolites. To date, plasma analysis after coffee or CGA ingestion has detected only low levels of intact 5-CQA (42, 45, 65-67) or none at all (64, 68). Urinary excretion studies rarely recover intact CGA, and then only minor (<1%) amounts, but do identify many metabolites (39, 45, 65, 69, 70). All studies reference used high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), which is the standard method of detection for CGA (22, 71, 72). However, Manach et al. (73) have suggested sample preparation with this technique may cause CGA degradation, resulting in little or no detection; this possibility was also noted by others (42). Interestingly, both caffeic acid and ferulic acid are absorbed well from the stomach and small intestine in animal models, appearing rapidly in both plasma and urine (56, 67, 74-77).

CGA is stable in artificial gastric juice (39, 78) and some CGA is absorbed intact from the stomach (79). Olthof and colleagues (70) determined that up to 33% of CGA is absorbed in human subjects without a colon, indicating some absorption occurs in the small intestine. This may involve absorption of the intact compound and/or metabolites. Enzymatic hydrolysis of CGA was not found in either small intestine, liver or plasma extracts (80). In contrast however, differentiated Caco-2 (human small intestine epithelial) cells displayed esterase activity when incubated with hydroxycinnamates (81). Using the same cell model, paracellular diffusion of intact 5-CQA was demonstrated (82). Additionally, measurable amounts of caffeic acid have been found in the stomach and small intestine of CGA-fed rats, which suggests some hydrolysis occurs early in the GI tract (79). Timing of CGA analysis compared to administration may factor into conflicting results as 43% of orally administered CGA was recovered intact from the small intestine of rats 1h after ingestion, and 5% still remained 5h later (68). In humans maximum concentration of CGA appears ~2.25h after ingestion with colonic metabolites appearing 8-10h after ingestion, some peaking at 6h (42). (83, 84). Method of administration matters for appearance of compounds as gastric emptying from a meal differs from that of a liquid dose (85).

The colon has been identified as the main site of CGA metabolite absorption, following bacterial esterification (65, 80, 86). Extensive digestive activity occurs in the colon by gut microflora, and faecal extracts contain an esterase capable of hydrolysing ferulic acid esters (80, 87, 88). Indeed, several species of gut bacteria have been identified with this ability (89). As microbiota differs from person to person and can be altered by diet and in turn can alter body composition, individual differences are expected (90-92). Therefore any unabsorbed intact CGA remaining is hydrolysed in the colon, initially into the main metabolites of caffeic, ferulic and quinic acid (85). Further degradation then occurs, as these metabolites undergo several reactions to form benzoic acid which is absorbed and ultimately excreted as hippuric acid in urine (86). Caffeic and ferulic acids and their derivatives can be absorbed from the colon, and are mainly found in conjugated forms in plasma (39, 64, 93). The most common conjugation processes are sulfation and glucuronidation which occur in the small intestine and the liver (39, 94). Given that at least some intact CGA circulates in the bloodstream, both CGA and its metabolites may have physiological effects throughout the body.

2.1.3 Antioxidant Capacity

Antioxidants combat free radicals that are formed naturally during body processes (95, 96). Free radicals, such as superoxide and the hydroxyl ion, can damage the body in a variety of ways including accelerating the formation of advanced glycation end products which are involved in both macro- and microvascular complications (97, 98). If levels of antioxidants are not sufficient to manage free radical formation, oxidative stress occurs (96, 97). It has been suggested that metabolic disorders, including T2D, result from oxidative stress (95, 97-99). People with T2D appear to have higher levels of free radicals than healthy populations (100). To combat this imbalance, need for increased dietary antioxidant intake is indicated. Due to low rates of consumption of fruits and vegetables however, the majority of dietary antioxidants actually come from coffee (101, 102).

Coffee contains several constituents that are demonstrated antioxidants, including CGA, melanoidins, lignans, vitamin E and Maillard reaction products (29, 41, 103, 104). The main antioxidants in coffee are 5-CQA with the metabolites caffeic and ferulic acid retaining antioxidant capabilities, though to a lesser extent (41, 70). CGA have been

shown to be involved in free radical scavenging, metal chelation, low density lipoprotein oxidation protection, and DNA damage inhibition (105-108).

2.1.4 CGA In Vivo

As discussed above, at least some CGA is absorbed intact in the body. There appears to be systemic effects of CGA ingestion, including a role in weight loss. Drinking CGA-enriched coffee 5 times per day allowed overweight human participants to lose an average of 5.4 ± 0.6 kg in 12 weeks (109). Significant weight loss was also noted in subjects consuming green coffee extract daily compared to a control beverage (110). The authors suggested that there was reduced glucose uptake from the small intestine and reduced glucose release from the liver. Although CGA have also been shown to alter blood mineral concentration (108, 111), reduce cholesterol levels and lower both plasma and liver triglycerides (31), their role in blood glucose control is focused on here. While CGA does not increase glucose uptake into skeletal muscle (112), there is evidence for actions of CGA in the small intestine and the liver.

2.1.4.1 Small Intestine

Glucose is absorbed in the small intestine via sodium (Na⁺) dependent transport across brush border membranes. Welsch et al (30) isolated rat membrane vesicles *in vitro* and found glucose uptake to be reduced by 80%, 38% and 35% with 1mM 5-CQA, ferulic acid and caffeic acid respectively. Other phenolic compounds have likewise been shown to inhibit glucose uptake (113). Possible mechanisms of action for the reduced uptake by CGA have been suggested: dissipation of the Na⁺ electrochemical gradient; binding of sulfhydryl groups on glucose transporters resulting in conformational changes; glucose transporter inhibition due to the phenolic hydroxyl group and lastly, α -glucosidase (maltase) inhibition (30, 114).

Several studies have found glucose ingested with coffee or CGA (24, 109, 115-117) to reduce blood glucose concentration rise. Together, these studies suggest that CGA in coffee inhibits glucose absorption thereby attenuating insulin secretion. This would effectively lower the glycemic response of foods ingested with coffee (118).

2.1.4.2 Liver

CGA has been shown to inhibit hepatic glucose output *in vivo*. CGA reduces the activity of glucose-6-phosphate (G-6-P) translocase 1, a critical transporter involved in glucose synthesis in the liver (25, 119, 120). Chronically infusing 5-CQA into rats for 3 weeks significantly lowered their peak blood glucose concentration during an oral glucose tolerance test, suggesting an interaction of CGA and the liver (31). Similarly, rats fed a diet supplemented with instant caffeinated and decaffeinated coffee for 3 and 12 months had slightly lower fasting blood glucose concentrations compared to those fed standard chow (121). Chronic decaffeinated coffee ingestion increased whole-body glucose clearance during a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp compared to placebo (116). Bassoli and colleagues (117) confirmed the ability of CGA to significantly reduce glucose output from the liver *in vivo*, but did not find this carried over in a rat model. Indeed, it appeared as though there was a lack of CGA uptake into liver cells, however this was determined with liver perfusion experiments (117). Together, these studies

indicate that chronic CGA administration results in reduced blood glucose, and suggests that coffee ingestion may have a significant effect over time.

2.2 Blood Glucose Management

2.2.1 Intestinal Glucose Absorption

Carbohydrate digestion begins in the mouth with salivary amylase breaking internal α -1,4 links of polysaccharides; this process is continued by pancreatic α -amylase in the lumen of the small intestine, producing oligo-, tri- and disaccharides (122, 123). Digestion continues at the brush border membranes, where hydrolysis of disaccharides occurs on the upper villi of enterocytes with disaccharidases cleaving the terminal α -1,4 linkages (124). Thus lactase breaks down lactose; maltase cleaves maltose and maltotriose, and the sucrase-isomaltase complex splits sucrose and α -limit dextrins, respectively (124). This enzymatic process results in the appearance of monosaccharides: glucose, galactose and fructose.

Glucose absorption occurs via uptake into enterocytes, mainly through sodium glucose co-transporter 1 (SGLT-1) (125). A sodium-potassium pump (Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase) found basolaterally on the absorptive cell drives the electrochemical gradient (125). Thus one mole of glucose is transported with two moles of sodium. Intercellular glucose has three fates: some may be used for intracellular fuel; some is converted to glucose-6-phosphate which gets incorporated into vesicles where dephosphorylation occurs prior to exocytosis into blood and the remainder is directly transported into blood through the facilitated glucose transporter GLUT-2 (125). SGLT-1 also transports galactose and the glucose analogue 3-O-methylglucose, but not 2-deoxy-D-glucose (which is transported

by glucose transport facilitators GLUT-1 and GLUT-2) (125, 126). SGLT-1 has been shown to be inhibited by several polyphenols, including epicatechin gallate and epigallocatechin gallate, 2 flavanols found in green tea (127).

2.2.2 Insulin Control

Glucose ingestion and absorption results in a rise in circulating blood glucose, which stimulates insulin release. The endocrine pancreas synthesizes and secretes insulin from β -cells (128, 129). Insulin promotes glucose uptake into the liver for short-term storage as glycogen, and into tissues such as skeletal muscle for fuel (129). Simultaneously, insulin increases glucose uptake into adipose tissue for long-term storage as triglycerides (TG) while inhibiting lypolysis and free fatty acid (FFA) release (128).

The fuel source of tissue cells is constantly in flux depending on the plasma concentration of nutrients at a given point in time (129). When glucose is present in high concentrations, it is preferentially taken up by skeletal muscles and adipose tissue; when levels are low, FFAs are taken up instead (128). This process is mediated by insulin, which is responsible for recruiting the glucose receptor GLUT-4 to the surface of tissue cells (128). Therefore an increase in plasma glucose causes an increase in insulin, which works to lower blood glucose concentration by promoting glucose uptake into tissues. Insulin's main role is to reduce blood concentrations of both glucose and FFA.

2.2.3 Gastrointestinal Hormones

Circulating glucose is not the only trigger for insulin release. It was shown that a glucose dose given orally resulted in higher insulin response than if the same glucose

dose was administered intravenously (130, 131). This discrepancy was later found to be due to the release of gastrointestinal hormones in response to nutrient ingestion that enhance insulin secretion (131, 132). GIP (initially named "gastric inhibitory polypeptide") and GLP-1 are the two identified hormones secreted in the small intestine in response to food which fit the criteria (131). Known as incretins, they are responsible for 50-70% of insulin response and act in a synergistic manner (24, 131, 133). Both are in the glucagon-secretin family (134). GIP is a 42 amino acid peptide derived from a 153 (human) or 144 (rodent) amino acid proGIP precursor (135-137), whereas GLP-1 is a 30 amino acid hormone cleaved from the proglucagon gene (131, 138). Tissue specific posttranslational processing of proglucagon is required for GLP-1 production, as several other peptides including glucagon, GLP-2 and oxyntomodulin are liberated depending on cleavage sites (131, 139). Both GLP-1 and GIP precursors are processed in the intestine by tissue-specific prohormone convertases (136, 139).

Although receptors for both of these hormones are found throughout the body, including the gut, brain and other tissues, their main target is the pancreas (131, 140-142). Incretins stimulate insulin release by targeting specific G-protein coupled receptors on pancreatic beta-cells, resulting in production of cyclic AMP and multiple downstream targets that work together to produce insulin (25, 131, 143, 144). Additionally, *in vitro* and *in vivo* rat models suggest GLP-1 and GIP have a protective effect on beta cells by inhibiting apoptosis and promoting proliferation (25, 131). Loss of β -cell function leads to insufficient insulin release and impaired glucose tolerance, therefore maintaining β -cell mass may protect against development of T2D (145). Indeed, GLP-1 and GLP-1 agonists are being studied as anti-diabetic agents (25, 131).

2.2.3.1 GIP

GIP is a gut hormone secreted by K-cells, which are dispersed throughout the intestine but proximally concentrated in the jejunum (131, 146). K-cells can be stimulated both indirectly and directly through neural, hormonal and nutrient regulation (147). Vagal innervation stimulates GIP secretion in humans but not rats; β -adrenergic stimulation increases GIP release whereas α -adrenergic stimulation has the opposite effect (147-149). Evidence exists for paracrine inhibition of GIP secretion by somatostatin, a hormone released by D-cells; an incretin self-limiting feedback loop is also suggested as GIP itself promotes somatostatin secretion (147, 150, 151). GIP is released in response to the absorption of fat and glucose in humans as well as protein in rats (25, 146, 147, 152-154). Within 10-15min of oral ingestion of these nutrients, GIP reaches peak concentrations prior to their arrival in the gut indicating non-nutrient stimulation (133).

Active GIP [1-42 amide] released from K-cells is cleaved to GIP [3-42 amide] by dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-IV). DPP-IV enzymatically cleaves off N-terminal amino acids (155). DPP-IV is found in numerous areas of the body, notably the intestinal brushborder membranes, as well as the kidney, liver, vascular endothelial cells and in plasma. Thus active GIP has a half-life of only 2min in rodents and 5-7min in humans (131, 156). The truncated GIP [3-42] does not stimulate insulin secretion and may in fact be a GIP receptor antagonist, albeit weakly (131, 146).

Basal circulating GIP is 10-20pmol/L, rising to 100-300pmol/L after meal ingestion (131, 139, 157). GIP seems to be unaffected in humans with T2D, with similar

secretion rates, circulating levels, and elimination although fasting levels are higher in obese compared to lean healthy humans (131, 144, 157).

2.2.3.2 GLP-1

GLP-1 is released from distally concentrated intestinal L-cells in response to presence of carbohydrates, fatty acids, essential amino acids or fiber (131). Of interest, recent evidence points to significant colocalization of GIP and GLP-1 in the mid-intestine (158). Like K-cells, L-cells are stimulated by several mechanisms. GLP-1 is secreted biphasically, with the first phase occurring 10-15min after meal ingestion and therefore likely to be due to neural or endocrine stimulation of the L-cells as nutrients would not have yet reached the distal gut (131). The second phase is 30-60min after food intake, likely due to direct nutrient stimulation (131). As with GIP, somatostatin works to reduce GLP-1 release while GIP itself increases intestinal proglucagon mRNA and GLP-1 secretion in rats but not humans (131, 134, 147).

There are two bioactive forms of GLP-1: GLP-1 [7-37] and GLP-1 [7-36] amide with other inactive forms, GLP-1 [1-37] and GLP-1 [1-36] amide, secreted simultaneously (131, 134, 140). Active GLP-1 is degraded by DPP-IV and has a shorter half-life than GIP of 2min in humans (131, 156, 159). Like GIP, the metabolites of active GLP-1, GLP-1 [9-36] amide and GLP-1 [9-37] are inactive and may also be GLP-1 receptor antagonists (139, 155, 160). Since DPP-IV is found in cell membranes on blood vessels and in plasma, the majority of intestinally-secreted active GLP-1 is inactivated in portal circulation (139, 161). In addition to its shared roles with GIP, GLP-1 inhibits glucagon secretion from pancreatic alpha cells, reduces food intake and slows gastric emptying (139, 140, 162, 163).

Fasting plasma concentrations of GLP-1 are in the 5-10pmol/L range in humans, and tend to reach maximal levels of 30-40pmol/L postprandially (131, 157). These maximal levels are reduced in individuals who are obese or have T2D, yet excretion rates are unchanged (131, 157). This indicates the rate of GLP-1 secretion is probably lower in these populations, so it is physiologically desirable to increase GLP-1 in people with these conditions (131, 144, 164).

2.3 Background Summary

Several aspects of CGA have been explored in an attempt to link coffee ingestion with beneficial health effects, specifically blood glucose management. Although *in vitro* studies suggest CGA reduces glucose secretion from the liver via G-6-P modulation, *in vivo* studies have failed to confirm this. This may be due to the findings that only small amounts of CGA are absorbed intact. Additionally, although the antioxidant activity of CGA is well established, it is not clear that T2D results from oxidative stress. There is evidence for beneficial blood glucose effects from chronic CGA/coffee ingestion however. Weight loss is also demonstrated with coffee consumption, not all of which is attributable to caffeine. It then remains that the most likely acute role of CGA is that of attenuating blood glucose rise by inhibiting absorption of glucose along the small intestine. To date, only one study measured blood incretin levels along with glucose and insulin following coffee consumption. Results demonstrated that decaffeinated coffee ingestion reduced GIP and enhanced GLP-1 response compared to placebo (24). This study aims to determine if CGA is responsible for the changes in incretin hormone levels and lower blood glucose rise seen with coffee consumption using both an *in vivo* and *in vitro* model.

2.4 Research Question

The objective of this study is to explore the mechanisms by which chlorogenic acid positively regulate blood glucose and insulin responsiveness. Previous studies have suggested three ways in which CGA may act: as an antioxidant, an inhibitor of hepatic glucose output and a suppressor of intestinal glucose absorption. This work aims to increase evidence for the latter by examining plasma glucose, insulin, NEFA and incretin hormone response to CGA ingestion in a rat model. Specifically, the research questions being addressed are: 1) does 5-CQA, compared to placebo, reduce glucose absorption and result in increased GLP-1 and decreased GIP response which alters insulin response and 2) does 5-CQA itself, or its main metabolites, alter GLP-1 secretion when glucose is present?

Although several studies have been done looking at CGA in rat models, they have measured blood glucose changes only; 1 using chronic intravenous administration (31), and 2 others using acute oral administration (68, 165). None of these studies measured insulin or incretin levels. One human study examined the GLP-1 and GIP concentration after decaffeinated coffee ingestion, and found significant changes with an OGTT that they attributed to CGA (24). Since there are thousands of bioactive compounds in coffee however, this causal relationship cannot be confirmed unless CGA is tested alone. To date, no studies have been done using a cross-over design to eliminate individual

response variation that appears to be prevalent (42). Elucidating the mechanism of CGA action is important to determine the most effective method of delivery, and this study aims to shed light on the role of 5-CQA in glucose absorption. If 5-CQA reduces glucose absorption and alters incretin response, it may be an effective treatment and/or preventative tool for T2D.

•

Chapter Three: CGA In Vivo

3.1 Introduction

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is a serious disease rapidly rising in prevalence. Characterized by either inadequate insulin production or inability to utilize insulin produced, T2D results in elevated blood glucose levels (1). Epidemiological studies show decaffeinated and caffeinated coffee consumption to be correlated to reduced risk of T2D in a dose-dependent manner (13, 15, 16, 166). A systematic review by Van dam & Hu (14) found relative risk reductions of 0.65 ± 0.12 (95% confidence interval) with ≥ 6 cups per day. Despite convincing epidemiological evidence, the component(s) of coffee responsible for these anti-diabetic effects is unclear. As caffeine is known to impair insulin sensitivity, a component of coffee other than caffeine is likely responsible (18, 19).

Chlorogenic acid (CGA) are the main antioxidants in brewed coffee, found in similar concentrations as caffeine (57). It is likely that these compounds are involved in mediating coffee's effects on blood glucose and insulin sensitivity as CGA have been found to reduce intestinal glucose absorption and inhibit hepatic glucose output *in vitro* (30, 31). The ability of CGA to impact glucose absorption along the gut depends on its presence in the intestinal tract. Indeed it appears that little CGA is absorbed intact from the stomach and small intestine, with the remainder undergoing hydrolysis and subsequent absorption of the metabolites in the colon (79, 85, 86). To date plasma and urine analysis after coffee or CGA ingestion has detected only very low levels of intact CGA (42, 65, 70) or none at all (79, 80). Timing of CGA analysis compared to administration appears to be a factor as 43% of orally administered CGA was recovered

intact from the small intestine of rats 1h after ingestion (68). Due to its prolonged presence in the intestine, it is worth exploring the ability of CGA to alter glucose absorption.

Oral intake of glucose results in the release of gastrointestinal hormones that enhance insulin secretion (130, 131). Known as incretins, GIP (initially named "gastric inhibitory polypeptide") and GLP-1 are responsible for 50-70% of insulin response and act in a synergistic manner (131, 133). Incretins stimulate insulin release by targeting specific G-protein coupled receptors on pancreatic beta-cells (25, 143, 144). GIP is secreted by K-cells dispersed throughout the intestine but proximally concentrated in the jejunum (131, 146). GIP is released in response to the absorption of fat and glucose in humans as well as protein in rats (147, 152-154). GLP-1 is secreted from distally concentrated intestinal L-cells in response to presence of carbohydrates, fatty acids, essential amino acids or fiber (131, 139). Although the two cell types are concentrated at opposite ends of the intestine, recent evidence points to significant co-localization of GIP and GLP-1 in the mid-intestine (158). Inhibited glucose absorption would be expected to lower rate of GIP secretion while increasing GLP-1 secretion due to sustained glucose presence in the intestine.

Previous *in vivo* studies have found glucose ingested with coffee (24, 116, 167), CGA (117), or CGA-enriched coffee (109) to reduce blood glucose concentration rise. One study found a reduction in peak blood glucose and plasma insulin of obese Zucker (*fa/fa*) rats after an oral glucose challenge following chronic intravenous administration of CGA (168), but no differences in blood glucose of human subjects were found after 4 months ingestion of CGA (169). No differences in blood glucose were found in fed Wistar rats after intravenous injection of CGA, although an acute oral CGA dose reduced peak blood glucose following an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) (170). Only one study measured incretin levels, and found that decaffeinated coffee ingestion resulted in reduced GIP and enhanced GLP-1 response following an OGTT in human subjects (24). Since there are thousands of bioactive compounds in coffee however, CGA must be tested alone to establish a causal relationship. This is the first *in vivo* study to examine the acute effects of orally ingested CGA on blood glucose management in a conscious and unrestrained animal model. Additionally, ours is the first to use a cross-over design, as individual response variation appears to be prevalent (42).

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Animals

Procedures were approved by the University of Calgary Animal Care and Use Committee (**Appendix A**) and abide by the Canadian Association for Laboratory Animal Science guidelines for animal experimentation. Male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=12) weighing 260-300g were housed individually in a temperature controlled room with a 12h light- dark cycle. Rats were given ad libitum access to drinking water and maintained on standard rat chow (5001 Laboratory Rodent Diet, Purina, Richmond, IN). Energy density of the diet (5001 Laboratory Rodent Diet, Purina, Richmond, IN) was 234g/kg of energy as protein, 45g/kg as fat and 499g/kg as carbohydrate. Experiments were performed on chronically catheterized, unrestrained, conscious rats. This model allows blood to be collected without increasing stress in the animal, as stress responses can alter insulin, glucose and free fatty acid concentrations (171-173).

3.2.2 Surgery

Rats underwent surgery to implant a catheter into the right carotid artery as described previously (174). Briefly, the surgical procedure involved anesthetising the rats with isoflurane, making a midline incision and isolating the left common carotid artery. The artery was catheterised with PE50 tubing under sterile conditions. The inserted catheter was flushed with heparinized saline (150U heparin/mL), then exteriorized and secured at the back of the neck where it was stopped with a stainless steel plug. Rats were allowed to recover for 4-5d prior to experiments, with weight gain monitored daily. Only those animals who regained weight to pre-surgery weight were used in experiments.

3.2.3 Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry

Body composition of recovered rats, including body fat and lean mass was determined 18h before start of experiments using duel energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA). This non-invasive procedure is the current gold standard for body composition analysis. Rats were lightly anesthetised with isoflurane for the duration of the scan, lasting ~2min.

3.2.4 Experimental Protocol

Experiments were performed in a cross-over design, with animals randomly being assigned to placebo or CGA treatment. Experiments were separated by a 3d washout period. A summary of the experimental protocol is shown in **Figure 2A**. Rats were fasted overnight (12h) with ad libitum access to water. Catheters were connected to additional PE50 tubing to allow for blood collection and were flushed with heparinized
saline (10U heparin /mL) to prevent clotting. Baseline blood was collected ~5min before oral gavage. On each experiment day, rats were weighed and a meal dose (4g/kg body weight (BW)) calculated. The oral gavage consisted of 59% carbohydrate, 25% fat and 12% protein with water in a 1g dry food: 1.5mL water ratio; see **Appendix B** for gavage recipe. Acetaminophen (124mg/kg BW) was added to the mixture to track rate of gastric emptying (175, 176). Blood (~200-400ul) was then collected at 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120 and 180min after meal ingestion. For animals receiving CGA, the meal contained 120mg/kg BW chlorogenic acid hemihydrate (Sigma-Aldrich Co, Oakville, ON).

3.2.5 Plasma Measures

Blood glucose was measured with a whole blood glucose monitor (**Figure 2B**) (OneTouch Ultra 2, Milpitas, CA). Additionally, ~200-400ul blood was collected into a chilled EDTA-coated tube containing 1uL Diprotin A, a dipeptidyl peptidase-IV inhibitor to prevent GLP-1 and GIP degradation (177). Immediately after collection, plasma was separated by centrifugation and stored at -80°C until analysis. Analysis of insulin and GIP was carried out using the Rat Gut Hormone Panel LINCOplex Kit (Linco Research, St. Charles, MO). Samples of 12.5μL of plasma were analyzed using antibodyimmobilized beads specific for these two hormones. Analysis of hormone concentration was determined using the Luminex¹⁰⁰. Active GLP-1 was quantified using the Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (Active) ELISA kit (Linco Research, St. Charles, MO). Non-esterified free fatty acids (NEFA) were measured using HR Series NEFA-HR (2) kit (Wako, Chuo-Ku, Osaka). Acetaminophen levels were determined using Acetaminophen-SL Assay (Diagnostic Chemicals Limited, Charlottetown, PEI).



A) Cross-over study design. After recovery from surgery, rats' body composition was determined followed by 2 experimental days separated by a 3d washout period. B)
Experiment day procedure. Baseline blood was drawn 5min prior to administration of oral gavage, with subsequent draws up to 180min thereafter.

3.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Differences between baseline body mass and blood glucose, GIP, GLP-1, insulin, NEFA and acetaminophen for the two treatment conditions were determined (SigmaStat for Windows Version 3.5, San Jose, CA). Area under the curve (AUC) values were calculated using the trapezoidal method. Comparison of results for individual time points and AUC were done using paired *t* tests following a Kolmogorov-Smirnov normality test. Differences with P<0.05 were considered significant. Values are expressed as means \pm SEM.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Baseline Measurements

Baseline blood glucose, plasma insulin, GIP, GLP-1 and NEFA are shown in **Table 3.** There were no significant differences between either the CGA or placebo groups, or between the values for each of the experiment days. DEXA analysis showed average body fat to be 8.12±0.62% among the rats. There was no significant correlation between percent body fat and fasting glucose, insulin, GIP, GLP-1 or NEFA (data not shown).

3.3.2 Blood Glucose

As seen in **Figure 3**, blood glucose rapidly increased from fasting levels in both placebo and CGA treatments following gavage, and concentrations were significantly higher at 15min in both groups (p<0.001). However, the rise in blood glucose concentration was attenuated following administration of CGA compared to placebo. There was a

	Placebo	CGA
Weight (g)	266.8 ± 4.9	264.9 ± 4.7
Fasting NEFA (mmol/L)	0.65 ± 0.04	0.59 ± 0.04
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)	5.46 ± 0.24	5.18 ± 0.19
Fasting insulin (pg/mL)	347.5 ± 47.3	364.4 ± 73.4
Fasting GIP (pg/mL)	51.7 ± 8.3	60.0 ± 4.1
Fasting GLP-1 (pmol/L)	6.06 ± 1.02	5.64 ± 0.93

Table 3. Baseline Measurements of Experimental Animals

Baseline characteristics of experimental animals following overnight (12h) fast. All blood samples were obtained by the arterial blood catheter. Data represent means \pm SEM.

.

significantly reduced blood glucose concentration at 60min (p=0.024) for rats given CGA treatment. Total area under the curve (AUC) was also significantly lower for rats fed CGA compared to placebo (p=0.021) (**Table 4**). Blood glucose did not return to baseline in either CGA or placebo treated rats 180min after meal gavage (p<0.001).

3.3.3 Incretins

Figure 4A demonstrates that plasma GIP increased from baseline following gavage in both groups, with a maximum response at 60min with placebo compared to 45min with CGA treatment. Ingesting CGA in a mixed-meal gavage resulted in significantly reduced GIP levels at both 30min (p=0.036) and 60min (p=0.006) respectively. Results demonstrated significantly lower AUC (p=0.029) for GIP over 180min compared to placebo (**Table 4**). Plasma GIP concentrations returned to baseline after 180min in both groups. GLP-1 levels decreased shortly after meal ingestion in both groups, then increased again between 45-90min (**Figure 4C**). Despite attenuated secretion of GIP with CGA, there were no statistically significant differences in GLP-1 between groups, at any time point or for the AUC over 180min (**Table 4**).

3.3.4 Insulin & Non-esterified Fatty Acids

Figure 4B shows that there was a rapid rise in plasma insulin levels in both CGA and placebo fed rats following mixed meal administration. Insulin concentration peaked at 15min in both treatment groups and dropped steadily thereafter. Although the rise in blood glucose was attenuated by CGA, no corresponding declines in insulin were observed between groups at any time point or for the AUC over 180min (**Table 4**).



Blood glucose in response to mixed meal gavage with or without CGA. (a) Results represent the mean \pm SEM for n=12 rats in each group. * Significant difference between treatment groups at t=60min (p=0.024).

Figure 3. Rat Postprandial Blood Glucose Response

Measurement (/3h)	Placebo AUC	CGA AUC	p-value
Blood glucose (mmol/L)	1360.5 ± 25.9	$1255.6 \pm 28.0^*$	0.021
Plasma insulin (pg/mL)	91298 ± 10308	94932 ± 15004	0.837
Plasma NEFA (mmol/L)	125.2 ± 11.3	125.3 ± 16.2	0.993
Plasma GIP (pg/mL)	30510 ± 3683	20678 ± 2694*	0.029
Plasma GLP-1 (pmol/L)	1015.0 ± 79.1	948.8 ± 119.3	0.641
Plasma Acetaminophen (µg/mL)	3400.5 429.1	3173.3 541.8	0.667

Table 4. AUC for Rat Blood Measurements per Treatment

Area under the curve (AUC) values for blood glucose, plasma insulin, NEFA, GIP and GLP-1. * Indicates p<0.05 between treatments.

.

.



Figure 4. Rat Postprandial Plasma Responses over 180min

(A) Plasma GIP response to a mixed meal gavage with or without CGA. (B) Plasma insulin response to a mixed meal gavage with or without CGA. (C) Plasma GLP-1 response to a mixed meal gavage with or without CGA. (D) Plasma non-esterified fatty

response to a mixed meal gavage with or without CGA. (D) Plasma non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) response to a mixed meal gavage with or without CGA. Results represent the mean \pm SEM for n=12 rats in each group. *Indicates p>0.05 between treatment groups at a given time point.

.

Additionally, while glucose concentrations did not return to baseline even after 180min insulin levels levelled out 45min after meal ingestion. Somewhat surprisingly, nonesterified fatty acid (NEFA) concentration did not significantly decrease after oral gavage in either treatment group as seen in **Figure 4D**. In the fasted state, NEFA levels are elevated as glucose stores are depleted. Postprandially, endogenous fatty acids decrease as circulating blood glucose increases. Our results show that the appearance of nonesterified fatty acids were unaffected by CGA treatment (**Table 4**).

3.3.5 Gastric Emptying

Gastric emptying was assessed by the administration and subsequent appearance of acetaminophen. Plasma levels peaked 15-30min after meal intake and steadily decreased thereafter in both CGA and placebo treatment groups. While several factors can affect gastric emptying, including GLP-1 secretion, no significant differences in the concentration of plasma acetaminophen were observed over the 180min of study (p=0.667, data not shown). Thus any differences between treatment groups in the blood measures of interest can be attributed to the absence or presence of CGA rather than alterations in nutrient arrival in the gut.

3.4 Discussion

Although evidence points to a protective effect of coffee intake on development of T2D, the mechanism of action has not been clarified. The present study examined the role of CGA, the main polyphenol found in coffee, in altering glucose absorption and subsequent incretin response. There is an abundance of information showing CGA to inhibit glucose uptake *in vitro*, however *in vivo* studies are lacking. Given this, the aim of the present study was to assess the administration of CGA on blood glucose management *in vivo*. Employing a conscious animal model, we show that oral CGA (120mg/kg) intake in combination with a mixed meal significantly attenuated the increases in blood glucose. Analysis of the gut peptides, GIP and GLP-1 showed GIP release to be significantly reduced with CGA consumption, while GLP-1 secretion was not altered. Acetaminophen administration indicated that these changes were not due to differences in gastric emptying. Although glucose and GIP levels were reduced with CGA treatment, neither insulin nor NEFA levels were modified.

We found acute CGA consumption to reduce the rate of blood glucose absorption in the presence of a standardized meal dose, as evidenced by a slower rise in blood glucose concentration compared to placebo treatment. The glycemic index (GI) measures the AUC for the blood glucose response over 2-3h compared following consumption of a given food, compared to a to a white bread standard (178). A low glycemic index (GI) diet may be recommended to reduce postprandial glucose and insulin (179). Thus our results show that CGA effectively lowered the glycemic index of the meal administered. A low glycemic diet is one of the recommendations to prevent or treat T2D as it helps prevent chronic hyperglycemia (10, 179). Thus it is logical that chronic intake of CGA in the form of coffee may result in less rapid absorption of glucose when consumed with or close to a meal, reducing the risk of T2D.

The attenuated blood glucose rise observed in our study with CGA administration indicates a reduction of the rate of glucose absorption, which likely accounts for the significantly reduced GIP secretion observed. Johnston et al (24) also noted a decrease in GIP following decaffeinated coffee consumption by human subjects compared to control. GIP is released in the proximal intestine in response to the rate of absorption of nutrients. In rodents, carbohydrates are a more effective stimulator than other nutrients therefore an alteration in glucose absorption is expected to have the greatest impact on GIP secretion (131). In contrast, no increase in GLP-1 secretion with CGA administration was observed. GLP-1 secretion occurs more distally in gut than GIP, concentrated in the ileum and colon (131). Although reduced glucose absorption would allow for increased glucose presence in the lumen, nearly all sugars are absorbed in the upper small intestine (126). Thus an increase in GLP-1. Likewise, in rats, GIP stimulates GLP-1 secretion (134). Thus the lower GIP found with CGA treatment could counteract any increase in GLP-1. Additionally, GLP-1 secretion can be inhibited by insulin as well as factors not measured in this study including somatostatin, a peptide hormone, and galanin, a neuropeptide (131).

The difference in blood glucose could not be explained by changes in insulin levels, as insulin was not significantly different after CGA treatment compared to placebo. No differences in insulin AUC were noted after caffeinated or decaffeinated coffee consumption compared to control beverage in healthy human subjects despite differences in GIP levels (24). Insulin is secreted by pancreatic β -cells in response to elevated blood glucose; incretins are responsible for 50-70% of the insulin response (131, 133). The relative contributions of GIP and GLP-1 on insulin stimulation are debated, although it is clear that they each contribute (180-182). GIP circulates in higher concentrations than GLP-1, yet GLP-1 appears to be a more potent stimulator (133, 183). In this study GLP-1 secretions were not altered with CGA treatment however GIP was significantly reduced.

Gastric emptying was tracked to ensure rates of nutrient arrival in the gut were similar in both treatment groups. Data on polyphenolic intake and gastric emptying are scarce, with one study finding ferulic acid to increase rate of gastric emptying and gastrointestinal transit time (184). Acetaminophen administration is an indirect measure of gastric emptying as it is not absorbed significantly in the stomach but is rapidly absorbed in the small intestine (175, 176). Results show no significant difference in gastric emptying with CGA compared to placebo as measured by acetaminophen appearance. The rate of gastric emptying is controlled by multiple factors however, including GLP-1. Both GLP-1 (7-36 amide) and GLP-1 (7-37) dose-dependently inhibit gastric emptying (163). In this study no differences in GLP-1 secretion or gastric emptying were found, thus CGA does not appear to alter rate of gastric emptying when consumed with a meal dose.

This study employed a conscious, *in vivo*, unrestrained animal model to examine the effects of CGA on blood glucose management. This allowed for physiologically relevant data collection, as stress is known to alter measures of interest in this study, including insulin, glucose and free fatty acid concentrations (171-173). Additionally, we used a mixed-meal gavage as opposed to an oral glucose tolerance test as humans typically eat meals composed of several food groups, not single nutrients such as glucose. Although coffee consumption may not always be accompanied by a meal, CGA remains in the small intestine for up to 6h after administration (68). Although this is primarily a study looking at changes in blood glucose with CGA administration, the goal is to uncover the mechanism(s) by which this compound may be protective against T2D. A dose comparable to that expected from usual coffee consumption in humans is 500-1000mg/day (57). For this project a dose of 120mg/kg was used to ensure enough of the compound was present to see an acute effect on glucose transport.

3.5 Conclusion

We found CGA to have a protective effect on blood glucose rise and to reduce GIP secretion, likely by slowing the rate of glucose absorption. Indeed, CGA may reduce the glycemic index of foods especially if ingested prior to or with a meal. Since coffee is the main source of CGA, this compound may explain the risk reduction for T2D seen in coffee drinkers. More research is needed however, particularly studies looking at blood glucose levels after caffeine with CGA to determine if the beneficial effects of CGA can outweigh the negative effects of caffeine on insulin sensitivity. Since CGA reduced blood glucose rise and altered GIP response, it may be an effective treatment and/or preventative tool for T2D.

Chapter Four: CGA In Vitro

4.1 Introduction

Chlorogenic acid (CGAs) are the predominant polyphenols present in brewed coffee, which is the main dietary source of CGA (57). CGA are esters of *trans*-cinnamic acids (cinnamates) and quinic acid; in coffee 5-caffeoylquinic acid (5-CQA) predominates at 36-60% of total CGA (28, 37, 40-44). CGA have been connected with a variety of health benefits as they demonstrate antioxidant, anticarcinogenic and antibacterial properties (41, 185, 186). As such, they have been suggested to play a major role in mediating the reduced risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) seen in moderate to heavy coffee drinkers (25, 103).

The mechanism of action for CGA remains unclear, given that controversy exists over the extent and site of absorption due to limited recovery of intact CGA in plasma or urine (42, 45, 65). A plausible explanation for the benefits of CGA lies in their ability to alter intestinal glucose uptake. Welsch et al (30) showed caffeic, ferulic and 5caffeoylquinic acid to all inhibit sodium-dependent glucose uptake in rat brush border membrane vesicles. At concentrations of 1mM, 5-CQA reduced glucose absorption by 80%; a 35% and 40% reduction was seen with caffeic acid and ferulic acid respectively. However Johnston et al (187) did not find such a relationship when using 10-fold lower concentrations of these and other phenolic acids in Caco-2 intestinal cells. The authors suggested the discrepancy may be due to differing ratios of the test agent to glucose.

Additionally, CGA may play a role in altering gut hormone response in the gut. Known as incretins, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and glucose-dependent insulinotrophic polypeptide (GIP) are hormones intimately involved in insulin secretion (131). GIP is secreted from K cells in the proximal intestine in response to glucose absorption, while GLP-1 secretion is concentrated more distally from L cells in response to glucose presence (147). Human subjects ingesting either caffeinated or decaffeinated coffee experienced lower GIP concentrations over 3h compared to control beverage, while GLP-1 levels were elevated after decaffeinated coffee consumption (24).

The aim of this study was to clarify the ability of CGA to inhibit glucose absorption and thereby alter GLP-1 response *in vitro* using the human colon cell line NCI-H716, known to secrete GLP-1 in a regulated manner. Specifically, it was determined whether i) 5-CQA or 2 main coffee metabolites, caffeic and ferulic acid, interfere with GLP-1 secretion in the presence of glucose, and further whether ii) 5-CQA could influence GLP-1 secretion in the absence of glucose or if iii) 5-CQA could indeed alter glucose uptake in these human L-cells (**Table 5**).

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Cell Model

The NCI-H716 human colon cell line was used for all three experiments. This enteroendocrine L-cell line is derived from a poorly differentiated human colon adenocarcinoma and has been shown to secrete GLP-1 in a regulated manner (188, 189). Methods were adapted from Reimer and colleagues (189). Briefly, identical cell culture conditions and GLP-1 secretion study techniques were utilised.

	Experimental conditions	Glucose present	Outcome measured
Experiment 1	5-CQA, caffeic acid, ferulic acid	Yes	GLP-1 secretion
Experiment 2	5-CQA	No	GLP-1 secretion
Experiment 3	5-CQA	Yes	Glucose uptake

 Table 5. In Vitro Experiment Summary

Human colon NCI-H716 cells were incubated with varying concentrations of 5-

.

caffeoylquinic acid (5-CQA) or coffee metabolites caffeic and ferulic acids in several conditions.

.

4.2.2 Cell Culture Conditions

Cells were grown in suspension in RPMI 1640 medium (Life Technologies, Inc) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Life Technologies, Inc), 2mM L-glutamine (Life Technologies, Inc), 100 IU/mL penicillin (Life Technologies, Inc) & 100 µg/mL streptomycin (Life Technologies, Inc). Media mixture was added every 3-4d until desired cell density reached, then every 7d for proliferation maintenance.

4.2.3 Secretion Studies

Two days prior to the experiments, 1×10^6 cells were seeded into 12-well plates coated with Matrigel (Becton Dickinson and Co.) to induce endocrine differentiation for GLP-1 secretion (190). Media was simultaneously changed to low glucose DMEM (Life Technologies, Inc) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2mM L-glutamine, 100 IU/mL penicillin and 100µg/mL streptomycin as described above. For the secretion experiments, cells were washed 2 times and the differentiation media replaced with Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate (KRB) buffer containing 0.2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Serological Proteins, Inc). For experiments 1 and 2, the compound of interest (5-COA, caffeic acid or ferulic acid) was added to the KRB buffer solution and the pH adjusted to 7.2 with NaOH. In experiment 1 cells were incubated in six 12-well plates with treatments in duplicate of control (no test agents, no glucose), positive control (2% meat hydrosylate) and i) 100 uM 5-CQA with various concentrations of glucose, ii) 5% glucose with various concentrations of 5-CQA, iii) 100 uM caffeic acid with various concentrations of glucose, iv) 5% glucose with various concentrations of caffeic acid v) 100 uM ferulic acid with various concentrations of glucose or vi) 5% glucose with

various concentrations of ferulic acid. For experiment 2, cells were incubated in two 12well plates, either for 2h with varying concentrations (0-10mMol) of 5-CQA or for various amounts of time (15min increments up to 2h) with 1µMol 5-CQA. In both experiments 1 and 2, after the 2h incubation period supernatants and cells were collected separately. Supernatants were removed and 50ug/mL anti-protease phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) (Sigma) with 2uL/mL DPP-IV inhibitor Diprotin A (Calbiochem) added to the collection to prevent GLP-1 degradation. Cells were scraped with lysis buffer containing both 50ug/mL PMSF and 2uL/mL Diprotin A. Both cells and supernatants were stored at -80°C until analysis.

4.2.4 Secretion Analysis

For experiment 1, GLP-1 concentration in both cells and supernatants was determined with GLP-1 (Active) ELISA (Linco Research, Inc, St Charles, MO). GLP-1 was measured using the GLP-1 (7-36) Active RIA kit (Linco Research, Inc, St Charles, MO) assay after 10-fold dilution of both cells and supernatants in experiment 2. The RIA analysis was done for the first experiment executed, experiment 2, as it was the technique of choice for Kristine Lee of Dr. Reimer's lab. The ELISA kit became available prior to experiment 1 and was chosen as it is more sensitive (2-200pM vs 10-500pM for the RIA) and safer as it does not use radioactivity in the method of detection.

4.2.5 Glucose Uptake

In experiment 3, 1×10^6 cells were seeded into Matrigel-coated 12-well plates with low-glucose DMEM for endocrine differentiation 2d prior as described above. Methods

used to measure glucose uptake were then adapted from (187). Briefly, cells were incubated at 37° for 1h with low-glucose DMEM without FBS. Media was removed and cells were incubated at 37° with HEPES buffered salt solution (HeBSS) for 20min to halt cell glucose uptake. Finally, cells were incubated at room temperature for 12min in HeBSS alone (negative control) or containing 1mM glucose and 125kBq 2-[3H]deoxyglucose with and without (control) varying concentrations of 5-CQA; each treatment was done in duplicate. Supernatants were then discarded and cells washed 3x with 1mL ice-cold PBS. Cells were then incubated overnight at room temperature with 1mL NaOH (200mM). Glucose uptake was determined by measuring 0.5mL cell solution and 5mL scintillation fluid using the QuantaSmart (2.03) program.

4.2.6 Data Analysis

For all experiments, GLP-1 secretion analysis was measured in duplicate. Results are expressed as means \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was done using the one-way ANOVA model (SigmaStat 3.5) to determine treatment differences. If differences in treatments were found, post-hoc analysis using the Student-Newman-Keuls method was used. Results were considered statistically significant if p<0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Experiment 1

This experiment indirectly explored the ability of 5-CQA and two main coffee metabolites, caffeic and ferulic acid, to inhibit glucose uptake by measuring GLP-1 secretion. Meat hydrosylate (MH) was used as a positive control as it has previously

been shown to promote GLP-1 secretion (189). Our results corroborate this finding, as MH significantly increased GLP-1 secretion compared to control in 5 of 6 experiments. Results show 5-caffeoylquinic acid to have no effect on GLP-1 secretion, regardless of concentration tested or amount of glucose present (**Fig 5 A&B**). There was significantly increased GLP-1 secretion with 10⁻⁴M caffeic acid at the highest concentration of glucose tested, but no other significant differences were noted with this polyphenol (**Fig 6 A&B**). Similarly 10⁻⁴M ferulic acid with 10% glucose resulted in increased GLP-1 secretion compared to 0%, 2% and 5% glucose but not control or MH treatment (**Fig 7A**). There were no significant differences seen among cells incubated with varying ferulic acid concentrations with 5% glucose (**Fig 7B**). Therefore cells incubated with the intact ester of caffeic acid and quinic acid demonstrated no alteration in GLP-1 secretion, even among differing glucose concentrations, while cells co-incubated with 10% glucose and the coffee metabolites caffeic or ferulic acid increased GLP-1 secretion.

4.3.2 Experiment 2

Human colon cells known to express GLP-1 were incubated with 5-CQA in varying concentrations for 2h and with 5-CQA (10^{-6} Mol) for varying times up to 2h (**Fig** 8). Results showed no significant difference between GLP-1 secretion for cells incubated for varying times with 10^{-6} Mol 5-CQA. For cells incubated for 2h with varying concentrations of 5-CQA however, GLP-1 secretion was significantly reduced with the two highest concentrations of 5-CQA (**Fig 9**). This may have been due to cell death, although pH was adjusted to 7.2 prior to incubation. Thus 5-caffeoylquinic acid does not alter GLP-1 secretion in human colonic cells in the absence of glucose.



Figure 5. Combined Effects of 5-CQA and Glucose on GLP-1 Secretion

Experiment 1. A. Cells incubated with 10^{-4} M 5-CQA and varying concentrations of glucose for 2h. B. Cells incubated with 5% glucose and varying concentrations of 5-CQA for 2h. Values shown are means ± SEM expressed as a percentage of control (0Mol 5-CQA, 0% glucose). MH=Meat hydrosylate. * Indicates p<0.05 vs. other treatment groups.



Figure 6. Combined Effects of Caffeic Acid and Glucose on GLP-1 Secretion

Experiment 1. A. Cells incubated with 10^{-4} M caffeic acid and varying concentrations of glucose for 2h. B. Cells incubated with 5% glucose and varying concentrations of caffeic acid for 2h. Values shown are means \pm SEM expressed as a percentage of control (0Mol caffeic acid, 0% glucose). MH, meat hydrosylate. CA, caffeic acid. * Indicates p<0.05 vs. other treatment groups.



Figure 7. Combined Effects of Ferulic Acid and Glucose on GLP-1 Secretion

Experiment 1. A. Cells incubated with 10^{-4} M ferulic acid and varying concentrations of glucose for 2h. B. Cells incubated with 5% glucose and varying concentrations of ferulic acid for 2h. Values shown are means \pm SEM expressed as a percentage of control (0Mol ferulic acid, 0% glucose). MH, meat hydrosylate. FA, ferulic acid. * Indicates p<0.05 vs. other treatment groups.



Experiment 2. Incubation with 10^{-6} Mol 5-CQA for varying time periods up to 2h. Values shown are means \pm SD expressed as a percentage of control (2h incubation without 5-CQA). No statistical difference was found among treatment groups (p=0.074).



Figure 9. Effect of 5-CQA Concentration on GLP-1 Secretion

Experiment 2. Incubation with varying concentrations of 5-CQA for 2h. Values shown are means \pm SD expressed as a percentage of control (0Mol 5-CQA).

* Indicates p<0.05 from all other treatment levels (p \leq 0.030); **p<0.001 from all other treatment groups.

4.3.3 Experiment 3

2-D-[3H]deoxyglucose was used to measure glucose uptake in NCI-H716 cells treated with various concentrations of 5-CQA. No significant difference of glucose uptake was found among treatment groups compared to control (**Fig 10**).

4.4 Discussion

In this project, alteration of glucose uptake and GLP-1 secretion was explored using the NCI-H716 human colon cell line in a variety of conditions. Based on the work of others, it was expected that CGA and 2 coffee metabolites would inhibit glucose uptake resulting in elevated glucose concentrations surrounding the cells and therefore increased GLP-1 secretion. In cells incubated with phenols, glucose uptake was directly measured as was GLP-1 secretion in the absence of glucose.

In experiment 1, cells incubated with the intact ester of caffeic acid and quinic acid (5-CQA) showed no alteration in GLP-1 secretion, even among differing glucose concentrations. In contrast, cells co-incubated with 10% glucose and the coffee metabolites caffeic or ferulic acids were found to increase GLP-1 secretion. GLP-1 is secreted from the NCI-H716 cell line in response to glucose presence: addition of 3% and 10% glucose resulted in approximately 1.5 and 2.7 fold increase in GLP-1 secretion compared to control (191). Thus if the polyphenolic compounds studied reduced glucose uptake, more glucose would be expected to remain in the cell solution, resulting in increased GLP-1 secretion. The results indicate that at the concentrations studied, intact chlorogenic acid is unable to alter glucose uptake in GLP-1 secreting cells. While Welsch et al (30) found a significant decrease of glucose uptake with 10⁻³M 5-CQA, they used



Figure 10. Glucose Uptake in Cells in Response to 5-CQA Concentration

Experiment 3. 2-D-[3H]deoxyglucose uptake. Values shown are means \pm SEM expressed as a percentage of control (0Mol 5-CQA). No statistical difference was found between groups (p=0.471). 5-CQA, 5-caffeoylquinic acid.

rat membrane vesicles which contain absorptive as well as enteroendocrine cells. Thus it may be that 5-CQA affects glucose uptake in absorptive cells rather than the GLP-1 secreting L-cells, although phenols did not alter glucose uptake in Caco-2 cells which express glucose transport proteins (187). Likewise, CGA had no effect on glucose uptake in muscle cells (112). Thus future glucose uptake studies may require absorptive and enteroendocrine cells to measure corresponding incretin release.

Experiment 1 found caffeic and ferulic acid increased GLP-1 secretion at high glucose concentrations; thus hydrolysis of CGA may be necessary to produce metabolites which have this ability. As glucose uptake was not measured directly in this study it is unclear whether the presence of the metabolites or, more likely, simply the higher concentration of glucose was responsible for the increased GLP-1 secretion. Further research involving incubation of this cell line with 10% glucose both with and without phenols would clarify the role of each. Additionally, although brewed coffee does not contain free phenolic acids, hydrolysis of CGA occurs resulting in caffeic and ferulic acid present in the intestinal tract (64).

In experiment 2, NCI-H716 cells were incubated in a buffer solution with 10⁻⁶Mol 5-CQA for various amounts of time up to 2h or with varying concentrations of 5-CQA for 2h. Results demonstrated that at the 2 highest concentrations of 5-CQA tested, GLP-1 secretion was lower compared to control. It could be that cell viability was reduced however, since total GLP-1 was lower in these 2 treatment conditions (data not shown). No other significant differences were noted. Thus 5-CQA alone is not capable of increasing GLP-1 secretion in this human colon cell model, which lends evidence towards an indirect relationship involving glucose uptake.

In experiment 3, a small pilot study was run to determine if glucose uptake could be directly measured in the HCI-H716 cell line using 2-D-[3H]deoxyglucose. While no significant differences in glucose uptake were found among treatment groups of various concentrations of 5-CQA compared to control, no conclusions should be formed from this initial finding. The standard deviations are quite large within each treatment; possible reasons for this include that the cells may not have been incubated long enough with the treatment solutions to uncover such a difference, or cell viability within each well may have differed significantly. Repeating the experiment in triplicate may give better results. It is clear however that glucose uptake can be measured in the NCI-H716 cell line and that more work is required to optimize conditions.

4.5 Conclusion

Chlorogenic acid does not increase GLP-1 secretion in human colonic cells in the absence of glucose, nor does it appear to have an effect when cells are co-incubated with varying amounts of glucose. Concentration of 5-CQA does not alter the release of GLP-1 either, regardless of glucose presence or absence. The 2 coffee metabolites studied, caffeic and ferulic acid, did increase GLP-1 secretion but only in conditions of high (10%) glucose. These results indicate that the increased GLP-1 secretion is attributable to the glucose itself and not inhibition of glucose uptake as glucose presence is known to increase GLP-1 secretion. It may be that enteroendocrine cells alone are not an adequate model to study glucose uptake and corresponding incretin release, as presence of absorptive cells may also be required. Further evidence for this is the finding that glucose uptake in NCI-H716 cells is not altered by CGA presence, as measured by 2-D-

[3H]deoxyglucose. Thus mechanisms of CGA's effect on GLP-1 secretion remain to be determined and more research is required.

,

1

.

-

Chapter Five: General Discussion and Conclusion

5.1 Discussion

5.1.1 Introduction

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) prelevance is increasing worldwide, with a variety of methods being developed or improved to combat this alarming trend. Currently T2D is managed through lifestyle intervention and/or pharmaceuticals but the disease tends to progress and there is no true cure (1, 7). Thus effective antihyperglycaemic agents are important in reducing the prevalence and severity of this disease. Following epidemiological studies showing a dose-dependent relationship between increased coffee consumption and decreased development of T2D, chlorogenic acid (CGAs) have been examined for their blood glucose lowering ability (14, 16, 192). This study was designed to explore the role CGAs have on reducing intestinal glucose absorption using two models: an *in vivo* Sprague-Dawley rat model and a series of *in vitro* experiments using the NCI-H716 human colon cell line.

5.1.2 Study Strengths & Limitations

5.1.2.1 Acute vs. Chronic Studies

An acute feeding protocol was chosen for the Sprague-Dawley rat study as the primary goal was to discover whether glucose uptake was altered with oral CGA intake. Therefore using a one-time dose of CGA allowed for isolation of the effect of CGA taken with a meal without the potential complications of habituation or adaptation that may occur in a chronic study. Glucose is actively transported across the brush border membrane by SGLT-1 (126). Although SGLT-1 can be upregulated by diet, especially high carbohydrate diet or increased glucose presence in the lumen, the process takes several days to occur thus an acute study does not need to take any intestinal adaptation into account (193-195). Additionally, the acute method enabled employment of a crossover design so that age was not a confounding factor in the study, as glucose uptake decreases with age (196). This design also allowed for the surgical insertion of catheters for blood withdrawal. This method can only be employed for a short time period, as several rats' lines had clotted by the second experiment day (7d post-surgery). It would have been interesting to have added a "lunch" component to this study to determine if CGA, particularly the metabolites, played a role in blood glucose control given the finding that CGA remains in the intestinal tract for some time. There are of course benefits to a long term study. A longitudinal intervention would have been beneficial to enable comparisons to findings from human epidemiological studies. To equate results with these human studies however, CGA doses would have to be significantly lower than used in this study, and given throughout the day to be more representative of typical coffee consumption.

5.1.2.2 Animal vs. Human Studies

Sprague-Dawley rats are a standard laboratory rat with digestive systems similar to those of humans (197). They are a useful model for *in vivo* nutrition work as they are easily accessed, and allow for testing of compounds to be done in genetically and environmentally similar animals which reduces confounding factors compared to human subjects. Human research trials require recruiting and screening of volunteers to ensure they meet study criteria, which can be both time consuming. Given this, it is logical to start with an animal model to demonstrate the relationship of interest and then progress to human subjects. There are drawbacks to using a rodent model for diet studies, as species differences do exist. For example, as previously mentioned, GIP promotes GLP-1 secretion in rats whereas this does not appear to occur in humans (134), thus results from animal studies may not be directly translatable. Glucose uptake results are expected to be transferrable between species however, as SGLT-1 is expressed similarly in both Sprague-Dawley rats and humans (198). Additionally, this study examined male rats only which may limit the extent to which extrapolations to females can be made.

5.1.2.3 Cell Culture

As with all cell culture work, results are indicative only of the specific environment in which the experiment occurs. This apparent disadvantage is also one of the great advantages of cell studies, as the conditions can be carefully controlled and altered as desired. For the experiments in this project, cells were incubated with known concentrations of substrates (glucose, CGA, caffeic and ferulic acid). In the *in vivo* animal study an exact dose of CGA was administered, but it would have been difficult to determine exactly where and when the compound reached L- or K-cells along the intestinal tract. Thus cell studies allow for limited but specific results which are especially useful for understanding mechanisms of action.

The NCI-H716 is an established cell line studied for its proven ability to secrete GLP-1 in a regulated manner. It is currently the only human L-cell line, although there are identified L-cell lines that release GLP-1 from other species, including the commonly

used murine GLUTag cells (199). Although NCI-H716 cells release GLP-1, proglucagon expression is aberrant which limits the analysis of GLP-1 secretion to the hormone presence alone, without the ability of measuring proglucagon gene transcription (200).

5.1.2.4 Plasma Analysis

Initially, a single kit (Rat Endocrine LINCO*plex*; Linco Research, St. Charles, MO) was chosen to analyse rat plasma for GIP, GLP-1 and insulin. This kit allows simultaneous quantification of multiple hormones with much less plasma than would be required for individual analysis, thus lowering the volume of blood drawn at each timepoint. Unfortunately, GLP-1 levels were too low to be detected with this kit, thus subsequent analysis with a separate assay was required (Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (Active) ELISA kit; Linco Research, St. Charles, MO).

5.1.2.5 CGA vs. Coffee

Coffee contains thousands of constituents, of which CGA are only a portion. Additionally, 5-CQA is the only CGA commercially available and therefore the most studied. Thus actions of 5-CQA may not be representative of coffee, especially caffeinated coffee. If 5-CQA is the primary mediator of positive effects on blood glucose however, it is likely that administration of this isolated compound would be more effective than ingestion via coffee. This is due to the large variability of CGA content in brewed coffee depending on type of bean and degree of roast (60). Currently, a green coffee extract (Svetol) is available with high concentrations of CGA, but the exact amounts and proportions of CGA likely differ from batch to batch due to the variability of green coffee bean contents. Additionally, whole CGA absorption is not complete, nor is the pathway understood, leaving the possibility that a dose-dependent effect on intact absorption exists.

5.1.2.6 Glucose Absorption vs. Appearance

The rat feeding study measured whole blood glucose from the general circulation. Although it is tempting to attribute changes in glucose appearance as measured by blood drawn from the implanted carotid catheter to alterations in glucose absorption, it may be that other factors, possibly unmeasured, are at play. Blood glucose appearance is attributable to absorption only for the first 30min post-ingestion in humans; after that peripheral metabolism plays a role in glucose concentration (24). The hyperinsulinemiceuglycemic clamp is the gold standard method of determining whole-body glucose uptake and its use would help clarify the role of glucose absorption versus blood concentration (26, 116).

5.1.3 Study Summary

Cell culture experiments using a human colon cell model demonstrated that 5-CQA alone is not capable of increasing GLP-1 secretion, findings which did not change when cells were co-incubated with 5-CQA and glucose in varying concentrations. GLP-1 secretion was only altered in cells incubated with high concentrations of glucose (10%), indicating glucose presence determined GLP-1 output and not presence of the phenolic compounds. This suggests glucose uptake rates may not have been sufficient to produce a
significant effect of phenolic inhibition. Although enzymes capable of separating esterified CGA have not been found in the upper GI tract, it is possible that metabolism of the intact compound is required to alter intestinal glucose uptake.

The *in vitro* finding that GLP-1 was not altered by CGA presence was also found in the *in vivo* study. Feeding 5-CQA acutely to rats resulted in significantly lower blood glucose over 3h. This was despite no differences noted in insulin, GLP-1 or NEFA concentrations, and was not due to changes in gastric emptying. This lends support for CGA as a contributor to the beneficial effects of coffee on blood glucose noted by previous studies.

The most significant finding of this work was the nearly 32% lower blood GIP concentration following CGA ingestion compared to placebo (p=0.029). Although reduced GIP secretion (implying reduced insulin stimulation) may seem counterintuitive for hyperglycemia prevention, GIP response is exaggerated in obesity and therefore inhibited release may in fact be desirable (201).

5.2 Future Research Directions

Human research is warranted, as very few studies with CGA have been done to date. Johnston et al (24) were the first to measure incretin levels after coffee consumption but they did not include a separate CGA group, thus results could not be specifically attributed to this compound. CGA-enhanced coffee was shown to lower blood glucose AUC following an OGTT compared to control, as well as reduce body weight compared to regular coffee after 12wk (109). Significant weight loss compared to controls was also noted in subjects consuming 400mg green coffee extract for 60d however no blood measurements were collected (110). Recently, a human cross-over trial showed an acute dose of 5-CQA, but not decaffeinated coffee, to significantly lower blood glucose and insulin 15min following an OGTT compared to control (202). Given the significant differences in both glucose and GIP in our animal study and Johnston et al's (24) human study, additional human research is warranted. Because acute studies have shown small but significant effects of coffee and/or CGA on blood glucose, a longitudinal study with CGA alone would be beneficial.

As noted in Chapter 4, utilising HCI-H716 cells in monoculture may not allow for sufficient glucose absorption differences as it is not an absorptive cell line. GLP-1 is secreted from the NCI-H716 cell line in response to glucose presence (191). Welsch et al (30) found a significant decrease of glucose uptake with 10^{-3} M 5-CQA, however they used rat membrane vesicles which contain both absorptive and enteroendocrine cells. Phenols did not alter glucose uptake in Caco-2 cells which express glucose transport proteins (187), nor did CGA have an effect on glucose uptake in muscle cells (112). It may be that 5-CQA affects glucose uptake in absorptive cells rather than the GLP-1 secreting L-cells, thus co-culture would allow examination of CGA ability to alter glucose uptake and subsequent GLP-1 secretion. The most studied human absorptive enterocyte cell line is the Caco-2 cell line, which is derived from human colon adenocarcinoma (203). Caco-2 cells express SGLT-1 and several GLUTs, including GLUT-2, and are widely used in glucose uptake experiments (204-206). They are also the primary cell line used in *in vitro* polyphenol metabolism studies (187). It has previously been suggested that paracrine signalling from enteroendocrine cells to enterocytes occurs to regulate SGLT-1 expression, therefore presence of both cell types may be required to

see an effect of CGA-inhibited glucose uptake on GLP-1 secretion (207). Tang et al (208) successfully co-cultured NCI-H716 and Caco-2 cells in Caco-2 culture medium, thus their techniques could be adapted to repeat our experiments, especially experiments 1 and 3.

5.3 Conclusion

In conclusion, it appears that CGA, particularly 5-CQA, is effective in reducing blood glucose levels in rats when ingested orally. This is likely due to lower rates of glucose absorption in intestinal enterocytes which then alters incretin secretion, particularly GIP as it is released more proximally than GLP-1. Lower GIP may be desirable in attenuating hyperinsulinemia. In order to fully explore the relationship between glucose uptake and GLP-1 secretion, more research is required, possibly using co-culture of absorptive cells and enteroendocrine cells. Overall however, the effectiveness of 5-CQA as an antidiabetic agent is suggested and longitudinal human research is recommended.

Bibliography

1. Reaven, G.M. 1993. Role of insulin resistance in the pathophysiology of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab Rev.* **9** Suppl 1: 5S-12S.

2. Gerich, J.E. 1993. Control of glycaemia. *Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 7(3): 551-586.

3. Sharma, K., McCue, P., and Dunn, S.R. 2003. Diabetic kidney disease in the db/db mouse. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* **284**(6): F1138-1144.

4. Sanders, R.J., and Wilson, M.R. 1993. Diabetes-related eye disorders. *J Natl Med Assoc.* **85**(2): 104-108.

5. Canadian Diabetes Association. 2008. The prevalence and costs of diabetes. Available from <u>http://www.diabetes.ca/Section_About/prevalence.asp</u> [accessed March 2010].

6. Reaven, G.M., Brand, R.J., Chen, Y.D., Mathur, A.K., and Goldfine, I. 1993. Insulin resistance and insulin secretion are determinants of oral glucose tolerance in normal individuals. *Diabetes*, **42**(9): 1324-1332.

7. American Diabetes Association. 2007. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, **30**(Suppl 1): S42-47.

8. Bassuk, S.S., and Manson, J.E. 2005. Epidemiological evidence for the role of physical activity in reducing risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *J Appl Physiol.* **99**(3): 1193-1204.

9. LaMonte, M.J., Blair, S.N., and Church, T.S. 2005. Physical activity and diabetes prevention. *J Appl Physiol.* **99**(3): 1205-1213.

10. Neff, L.M. 2003. Evidence-based dietary recommendations for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nutr Clin Care.* 6(2): 51-61.

11. Deeks, E.D., and Keam, S.J. 2007. Rosiglitazone : a review of its use in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Drugs*, **67**(18): 2747-2779.

12. Greenberg, J.A., Boozer, C.N., and Geliebter, A. 2006. Coffee, diabetes, and weight control. *Am J Clin Nutr.* **84**(4): 682-693.

13. Yamaji, T., Mizoue, T., Tabata, S., Ogawa, S., Yamaguchi, K., Shimizu, E., et al. 2004. Coffee consumption and glucose tolerance status in middle-aged Japanese men. *Diabetologia*. **47**(12): 2145-2151.

14. van Dam, R.M., and Hu, F.B. 2005. Coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Jama.* **294**(1): 97-104.

15. Salazar-Martinez, E., Willett, W.C., Ascherio, A., Manson, J.E., Leitzmann, M.F., Stampfer, M.J., et al. 2004. Coffee consumption and risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med.* **140**(1): 1-8.

16. Higdon, J.V., and Frei, B. 2006. Coffee and health: a review of recent human research. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* **46**(2): 101-123.

17. Soriguer, F., Rojo-Martinez, G., and de Antonio, I.E. 2004. Coffee consumption and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med.* **141**(4): 321-323; author reply 323-324.

18. Graham, T.E., Sathasivam, P., Rowland, M., Marko, N., Greer, F., and Battram, D. 2001. Caffeine ingestion elevates plasma insulin response in humans during an oral glucose tolerance test. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* **79**(7): 559-565.

19. Greer, F., Hudson, R., Ross, R., and Graham, T. 2001. Caffeine ingestion decreases glucose disposal during a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp in sedentary humans. *Diabetes*, **50**(10): 2349-2354.

20. Arya, M., and Rao, L. 2007. An impression of coffee carbohydrates. *Crit Rev Food Sci.* **47**(1): 51-67.

21. Casal, S., Oliveira, M.B., Alves, M.R., and Ferreira, M.A. 2000. Discriminate analysis of roasted coffee varieties for trigonelline, nicotinic acid, and caffeine content. *J Agric Food Chem.* **48**(8): 3420-3424.

22. Farah, A., de Paulis, T., Moreira, D.P., Trugo, L.C., and Martin, P.R. 2006. Chlorogenic acids and lactones in regular and water-decaffeinated arabica coffees. *J Agric Food Chem.* 54(2): 374-381.

23. Thong, F.S., and Graham, T.E. 2002. Caffeine-induced impairment of glucose tolerance is abolished by beta-adrenergic receptor blockade in humans. *J Appl Physiol.* **92**(6): 2347-2352.

24. Johnston, K.L., Clifford, M.N., and Morgan, L.M. 2003. Coffee acutely modifies gastrointestinal hormone secretion and glucose tolerance in humans: glycemic effects of chlorogenic acid and caffeine. *Am J Clin Nutr.* **78**(4): 728-733.

25. McCarty, M.F. 2005. A chlorogenic acid-induced increase in GLP-1 production may mediate the impact of heavy coffee consumption on diabetes risk. *Med Hypotheses*, **64**(4): 848-853.

Shearer, J., Farah, A., de Paulis, T., Bracy, D.P., Pencek, R.R., Graham, T.E., et al. 2003. Quinides of roasted coffee enhance insulin action in conscious rats. *J Nutr.* 133(11): 3529-3532.

27. Nunes, F.M., and Coimbra, M.A. 2007. Melanoidins from coffee infusions. Fractionation, chemical characterization, and effect of the degree of roast. *J Agric Food Chem.* **55**(10): 3967-3977.

28. Clifford, M.N. 1999. Chlorogenic acids and other cinnamates - nature, occurrence and dietary burden. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **79**(3): 362-372.

29. Yanagimoto, K., Lee, K.G., Ochi, H., and Shibamoto, T. 2002. Antioxidative activity of heterocyclic compounds found in coffee volatiles produced by Maillard reaction. J Agric Food Chem. **50**(19): 5480-5484.

30. Welsch, C.A., Lachance, P.A., and Wasserman, B.P. 1989. Dietary phenolic compounds: inhibition of Na+-dependent D-glucose uptake in rat intestinal brush border membrane vesicles. *J Nutr.* **119**(11): 1698-1704.

31. Rodriguez de Sotillo, D.V., and Hadley, M. 2002. Chlorogenic acid modifies plasma and liver concentrations of: cholesterol, triacylglycerol, and minerals in (fa/fa) Zucker rats. *J Nutr Biochem.* **13**(12): 717-726.

32. Coffee Association of Canada. 2008. Highlights: Canadian Coffee Drinking Study. Available from <u>http://www.coffeeassoc.com/coffeeincanada.htm</u> [accessed February 2010].

33. Storey, M.L., Forshee, R.A., and Anderson, P.A. 2006. Beverage consumption in the US population. *J Am Diet Assoc.* **106**(12): 1992-2000.

34. Naismith, D.J., Akinyanju, P.A., Szanto, S., and Yudkin, J. 1970. The effect, in volunteers, of coffee and decaffeinated coffee on blood glucose, insulin, plasma lipids and some factors involved in blood clotting. *Nutr Metab.* **12**(3): 144-151.

35. Smith, B., Wingard, D.L., Smith, T.C., Kritz-Silverstein, D., and Barrett-Connor, E. 2006. Does coffee consumption reduce the risk of type 2 diabetes in individuals with impaired glucose? *Diabetes Care*, **29**(11): 2385-2390.

36. Hino, A., Adachi, H., Enomoto, M., Furuki, K., Shigetoh, Y., Ohtsuka, M., et al. 2007. Habitual coffee but not green tea consumption is inversely associated with metabolic syndrome: an epidemiological study in a general Japanese population. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* **76**(3): 383-389.

37. Campa, C., Doulbeau, S., Dussert, S., Hamon, S., and Noirot, M. 2005. Qualitative relationship between caffeine and chlorogenic acid contents among wild Coffea species. *Food Chemistry.* **93**(1): 135-139.

38. Waterhouse, A.L. The Phenolic Wine Antioxidants. In: *Handbook of Antioxidants* (Oxidative Stress and Disease), edited by Cadenas E and Packer L. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 2001, p. 401-416.

39. Rechner, A.R., Spencer, J.P., Kuhnle, G., Hahn, U., and Rice-Evans, C.A. 2001. Novel biomarkers of the metabolism of caffeic acid derivatives in vivo. *Free Radic Biol Med.* **30**(11): 1213-1222.

40. Farah, A., de Paulis, T., Moreira, D.P., Trugo, L.C., and Martin, P.R. 2006a. Chlorogenic acids and lactones in regular and water-decaffeinated arabica coffees. *J Agric Food Chem.* **54**(2): 374-381.

41. Fujioka, K., and Shibamoto, T. 2006. Quantitation of volatiles and nonvolatile acids in an extract from coffee beverages: correlation with antioxidant activity. *J Agric Food Chem.* **54**(16): 6054-6058.

42. Monteiro, M., Farah, A., Perrone, D., Trugo, L.C., and Donangelo, C. 2007. Chlorogenic acid compounds from coffee are differentially absorbed and metabolized in humans. *J Nutr.* **137**(10): 2196-2201.

43. Clarke, R.J., and Macrae, R. 1985. *Coffee*. Elsevier Applied Science Publishers, New York, NY, USA.

44. Koshiro, Y., Jackson, M.C., Katahira, R., Wang, M.L., Nagai, C., and Ashihara, H. 2007. Biosynthesis of chlorogenic acids in growing and ripening fruits of Coffea arabica and Coffea canephora plants. *Z Naturforsch [C]*. **62**(9-10): 731-742.

45. Stalmach, A., Mullen, W., Barron, D., Uchida, K., Yokota, T., Cavin, C., et al. 2009. Metabolite profiling of hydroxycinnamate derivatives in plasma and urine after the ingestion of coffee by humans: identification of biomarkers of coffee consumption. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **37**(8): 1749-1758.

46. van Dam, R.M., Willett, W.C., Manson, J.E., and Hu, F.B. 2006. Coffee, caffeine, and risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective cohort study in younger and middle-aged U.S. women. *Diabetes Care*, **29**(2): 398-403.

47. Iso, H., Date, C., Wakai, K., Fukui, M., and Tamakoshi, A. 2006. The relationship between green tea and total caffeine intake and risk for self-reported type 2 diabetes among Japanese adults. *Ann Intern Med.* **144**(8): 554-562.

48. Paynter, N.P., Yeh, H.C., Voutilainen, S., Schmidt, M.I., Heiss, G., Folsom, A.R., et al. 2006. Coffee and sweetened beverage consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Am J Epidemiol.* **164**(11): 1075-1084.

49. Pereira, M.A., Parker, E.D., and Folsom, A.R. 2006. Coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: an 11-year prospective study of 28 812 postmenopausal women. *Arch Intern Med.* **166**(12): 1311-1316.

50. van Dam, R.M., and Feskens, E.J. 2002. Coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Lancet*, **360**(9344): 1477-1478.

51. Greenberg, J.A., Axen, K.V., Schnoll, R., and Boozer, C.N. 2005. Coffee, tea and diabetes: the role of weight loss and caffeine. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. **29**(9): 1121-1129.

52. Hamer, M., Witte, D.R., Mosdol, A., Marmot, M.G., and Brunner, E.J. 2008. Prospective study of coffee and tea consumption in relation to risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus among men and women: the Whitehall II study. *Br J Nutr.* **100**(5): 1046-1053.

53. van Dam, R.M. Coffee consumption and risk of chronic diseases: the epidemiological evidence. Canadian Society for Clinical Nutrition 6th Annual Scientific Meeting. Winnipeg, Manitoba, 2007.

54. Moon, J.K., Yoo, H.S., and Shibamoto, T. 2009. Role of roasting conditions in the level of chlorogenic acid content in coffee beans: correlation with coffee acidity. *J Agric Food Chem.* **57**(12): 5365-5369.

55. D'Archivio, M., Filesi, C., Di Benedetto, R., Gargiulo, R., Giovannini, C., and Masella, R. 2007. Polyphenols, dietary sources and bioavailability. *Ann Ist Super Sanita*. **43**(4): 348-361.

56. Clifford, M.N. 2000. Chlorogenic acids and other cinnamates - nature, occurrence, dietary burden, absorption and metabolism. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **80**(7): 1033-1043.

57. Clifford, M.N. 1999. Chlorogenic acids and other cinnamates - nature, occurrence and dietary burden. *J Sci Food Agric*. **79**(3): 362-372.

58. Farah, A., de Paulis, T., Trugo, L.C., and Martin, P.R. 2005. Effect of roasting on the formation of chlorogenic acid lactones in coffee. *J Agric Food Chem.* **53**(5): 1505-1513.

59. Daglia, M., Papetti, A., Gregotti, C., Berte, F., and Gazzani, G. 2000. In vitro antioxidant and ex vivo protective activities of green and roasted coffee. *J Agric Food Chem.* **48**(5): 1449-1454.

60. del Castillo, M.D., Ames, J.M., and Gordon, M.H. 2002. Effect of roasting on the antioxidant activity of coffee brews. *J Agric Food Chem.* **50**(13): 3698-3703.

61. Bekedam, E.K., Schols, H.A., Van Boekel, M.A., and Smit, G. 2008. Incorporation of chlorogenic acids in coffee brew melanoidins. *J Agric Food Chem.* **56**(6): 2055-2063.

62. Shimoda, H., Seki, E., and Aitani, M. 2006. Inhibitory effect of green coffee bean extract on fat accumulation and body weight gain in mice. *BMC Complement Altern Med.* **6**: 9.

63. Trugo, L.C., and Macrae, R. 1984. A Study of the Effect of Roasting on the Chlorogenic Acid Composition of Coffee Using Hplc. *Food Chemistry*, **15**(3): 219-227.

64. Nardini, M., Cirillo, E., Natella, F., and Scaccini, C. 2002. Absorption of phenolic acids in humans after coffee consumption. *J Agric Food Chem.* **50**(20): 5735-5741.

65. Gonthier, M.P., Verny, M.A., Besson, C., Remesy, C., and Scalbert, A. 2003. Chlorogenic acid bioavailability largely depends on its metabolism by the gut microflora in rats. *J Nutr.* **133**(6): 1853-1859.

66. Azzini, E., Bugianesi, R., Romano, F., Di Venere, D., Miccadei, S., Durazzo, A., et al. 2007. Absorption and metabolism of bioactive molecules after oral consumption of cooked edible heads of Cynara scolymus L. (cultivar Violetto di Provenza) in human subjects: a pilot study. *Br J Nutr.* **97**(5): 963-969.

67. Cremin, P., Kasim-Karakas, S., and Waterhouse, A.L. 2001. LC/ES-MS detection of hydroxycinnamates in human plasma and urine. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **49**(4): 1747-1750.

68. Azuma, K., Ippoushi, K., Nakayama, M., Ito, H., Higashio, H., and Terao, J. 2000. Absorption of chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid in rats after oral administration. *J Agric Food Chem.* **48**(11): 5496-5500.

69. Choudhury, R., Srai, S.K., Debnam, E., and Rice-Evans, C.A. 1999. Urinary excretion of hydroxycinnamates and flavonoids after oral and intravenous administration. *Free Radic Biol Med.* **27**(3-4): 278-286.

70. Olthof, M.R., Hollman, P.C., and Katan, M.B. 2001. Chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid are absorbed in humans. *J Nutr.* **131**(1): 66-71.

71. Trugo, L.C., and Macrae, R. 1984. Chlorogenic acid composition of instant coffees. *Analyst*, **109**(3): 263-266.

72. Takaya, M., Makiko, I., and Tomoko, S. 2005. Influence of roasting time and extraction conditions on quantity of chlorogenic acid in coffee. *Journal for the Integrated Study of Dietary Habits*, **16**(3): 224-229.

73. Manach, C., Williamson, G., Morand, C., Scalbert, A., and Remesy, C. 2005. Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **81**(1): 230S-242S.

74. Zhao, Z., Egashira, Y., and Sanada, H. 2004. Ferulic acid is quickly absorbed from rat stomach as the free form and then conjugated mainly in liver. *J Nutr.* **134**(11): 3083-3088.

75. Camarasa, J., Escubedo, E., and Adzet, T. 1988. Pharmacokinetics of caffeic acid in rats by a high-performance liquid chromatography method. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* **6**(5): 503-510.

76. Adam, A., Crespy, V., Levrat-Verny, M.A., Leenhardt, F., Leuillet, M., Demigne, C., et al. 2002. The bioavailability of ferulic acid is governed primarily by the food matrix rather than its metabolism in intestine and liver in rats. *J Nutr.* **132**(7): 1962-1968.

77. Konishi, Y., Zhao, Z., and Shimizu, M. 2006. Phenolic acids are absorbed from the rat stomach with different absorption rates. *J Agric Food Chem.* **54**(20): 7539-7543.

78. Takenaka, M., Nagata, T., and Yoshida, M. 2000. Stability and bioavailability of antioxidants in garland (Chrysanthemum coronarium L.). *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem*. **64**(12): 2689-2691.

79. Lafay, S., Gil-Izquierdo, A., Manach, C., Morand, C., Besson, C., and Scalbert, A. 2006. Chlorogenic acid is absorbed in its intact form in the stomach of rats. *J Nutr.* **136**(5): 1192-1197.

80. Plumb, G.W., Garcia-Conesa, M.T., Kroon, P.A., Rhodes, M., Ridley, S., and Williamson, G. 1999. Metabolism of chlorogenic acid by human plasma, liver, intestine and gut microflora. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **79**(3): 390-392.

81. Kern, S.M., Bennett, R.N., Needs, P.W., Mellon, F.A., Kroon, P.A., and Garcia-Conesa, M.T. 2003. Characterization of metabolites of hydroxycinnamates in the in vitro model of human small intestinal epithelium caco-2 cells. *J Agric Food Chem.* **51**(27): 7884-7891.

82. Konishi, Y., and Kobayashi, S. 2004. Transepithelial transport of chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid, and their colonic metabolites in intestinal caco-2 cell monolayers. *J Agric Food Chem.* **52**(9): 2518-2526.

83. Renouf, M., Guy, P.A., Marmet, C., Fraering, A.L., Longet, K., Moulin, J., et al. 2010. Measurement of caffeic and ferulic acid equivalents in plasma after coffee consumption: small intestine and colon are key sites for coffee metabolism. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 54(6): 760-766.

84. Crozier, A., Del Rio, D., and Clifford, M.N. 2010. Bioavailability of dietary flavonoids and phenolic compounds. *Mol Aspects Med.* in press.

85. Lafay, S., Morand, C., Manach, C., Besson, C., and Scalbert, A. 2006. Absorption and metabolism of caffeic acid and chlorogenic acid in the small intestine of rats. Br J *Nutr.* **96**(1): 39-46.

86. Olthof, M.R., Hollman, P.C., Buijsman, M.N., van Amelsvoort, J.M., and Katan, M.B. 2003. Chlorogenic acid, quercetin-3-rutinoside and black tea phenols are extensively metabolized in humans. *J Nutr.* **133**(6): 1806-1814.

87. Kroon, P.A., Faulds, C.B., Ryden, P., Robertson, J.A., and Williamson, G. 1997. Release of covalently bound ferulic acid from fiber in the human colon. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.* **45**(3): 661-667.

88. Gonthier, M.P., Remesy, C., Scalbert, A., Cheynier, V., Souquet, J.M., Poutanen, K., et al. 2006. Microbial metabolism of caffeic acid and its esters chlorogenic and caftaric acids by human faecal microbiota in vitro. *Biomed Pharmacother.* **60**(9): 536-540.

89. Couteau, D., McCartney, A.L., Gibson, G.R., Williamson, G., and Faulds, C.B. 2001. Isolation and characterization of human colonic bacteria able to hydrolyse chlorogenic acid. *J Appl Microbiol.* **90**(6): 873-881.

90. Lay, C., Rigottier-Gois, L., Holmstrom, K., Rajilic, M., Vaughan, E.E., de Vos, W.M., et al. 2005. Colonic microbiota signatures across five northern European countries. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* **71**(7): 4153-4155.

91. Guarner, F., and Malagelada, J.R. 2003. Gut flora in health and disease. *Lancet*, **361**(9356): 512-519.

92. Ley, R.E., Turnbaugh, P.J., Klein, S., and Gordon, J.I. 2006. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature*, **444**(7122): 1022-1023.

93. Dupas, C.J., Marsset-Baglieri, Agnès C., Ordonaud, Claire S., Ducept, Fabrice M.
G., Maillard, Marie-Noëlle. 2006. Coffee Antioxidant Properties: Effects of Milk
Addition and Processing Conditions. *J Food Sci.* 71(3): S253-258.

94. Nardini, M., Natella, F., Scaccini, C., and Ghiselli, A. 2006. Phenolic acids from beer are absorbed and extensively metabolized in humans. *J Nutr Biochem.* 17(1): 14-22.

95. Kelly, F.J. 1998. Use of antioxidants in the prevention and treatment of disease. *J Int Fed Clin Chem.* **10**(1): 21-23.

96. Ceriello, A. 2003. New insights on oxidative stress and diabetic complications may lead to a "causal" antioxidant therapy. *Diabetes Care.* **26**(5): 1589-1596.

97. Penckofer, S., Schwertz, D., and Florczak, K. 2002. Oxidative stress and cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: the role of antioxidants and pro-oxidants. *J Cardiovasc Nurs.* **16**(2): 68-85.

98. Johansen, J.S., Harris, A.K., Rychly, D.J., and Ergul, A. 2005. Oxidative stress and the use of antioxidants in diabetes: linking basic science to clinical practice. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* **4**(1): 5.

99. Haidara, M.A., Yassin, H.Z., Rateb, M., Ammar, H., and Zorkani, M.A. 2006. Role of oxidative stress in development of cardiovascular complications in diabetes mellitus. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol.* **4**(3): 215-227.

100. Robertson, R.P., Harmon, J., Tran, P.O., and Poitout, V. 2004. Beta-cell glucose toxicity, lipotoxicity, and chronic oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, **53**(Suppl 1): S119-124.

101. Svilaas, A., Sakhi, A.K., Andersen, L.F., Svilaas, T., Strom, E.C., Jacobs, D.R., Jr., et al. 2004. Intakes of antioxidants in coffee, wine, and vegetables are correlated with plasma carotenoids in humans. *J Nutr.* **134**(3): 562-567.

102. Pulido, R., Hernandez-Garcia, M., and Saura-Calixto, F. 2003. Contribution of beverages to the intake of lipophilic and hydrophilic antioxidants in the Spanish diet. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* **57**(10): 1275-1282.

103. van Dam, R.M. 2006. Coffee and type 2 diabetes: from beans to beta-cells. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* **16**(1): 69-77.

104. Yanagimoto, K., Ochi, H., Lee, K.G., and Shibamoto, T. 2004. Antioxidative activities of fractions obtained from brewed coffee. *J Agric Food Chem.* **52**(3): 592-596.

105. Nardini, M., D'Aquino, M., Tomassi, G., Gentili, V., Di Felice, M., and Scaccini, C. 1995. Inhibition of human low-density lipoprotein oxidation by caffeic acid and other hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives. *Free Radic Biol Med.* **19**(5): 541-552.

106. Kasai, H., Fukada, S., Yamaizumi, Z., Sugie, S., and Mori, H. 2000. Action of chlorogenic acid in vegetables and fruits as an inhibitor of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine formation in vitro and in a rat carcinogenesis model. *Food Chem Toxicol.* **38**(5): 467-471.

107. Daglia, M., Racchi, M., Papetti, A., Lanni, C., Govoni, S., and Gazzani, G. 2004. In vitro and ex vivo antihydroxyl radical activity of green and roasted coffee. *J Agric Food Chem.* **52**(6): 1700-1704.

108. Moreira, D.P., Monteiro, M.C., Ribeiro-Alves, M., Donangelo, C.M., and Trugo, L.C. 2005. Contribution of chlorogenic acids to the iron-reducing activity of coffee beverages. *J Agric Food Chem.* **53**(5): 1399-1402.

109. Thom, E. 2007. The effect of chlorogenic acid enriched coffee on glucose absorption in healthy volunteers and its effect on body mass when used long-term in overweight and obese people. *J Int Med Res.* **35**(6): 900-908.

110. Dellalibera, O., Lemaire, B., and Lafay, S. 2006. Le Svetol, un extrait de cafe vert decafeine, induit une perte de poids et augmente le ratio masse maigre sure masse grasse chez des volontarires en surcharge ponderale. *Phytotherapie*, **4**: 194-197.

111. Coudray, C., Bousset, C., Tressol, J.C., Pepin, D., and Rayssiguier, Y. 1998. Shortterm ingestion of chlorogenic or caffeic acids decreases zinc but not copper absorption in rats, utilization of stable isotopes and inductively-coupled plasma mass spectrometry technique. *Br J Nutr.* **80**(6): 575-584.

112. Vuong, T., Martineau, L.C., Ramassamy, C., Matar, C., and Haddad, P.S. 2007. Fermented Canadian lowbush blueberry juice stimulates glucose uptake and AMP-activated protein kinase in insulin-sensitive cultured muscle cells and adipocytes. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* **85**(9): 956-965.

113. Clifford, M.N. 2004. Diet-derived phenols in plasma and tissues and their implications for health. *Planta Med.* **70**(12): 1103-1114.

114. Wright, E.M. 2001. Renal Na(+)-glucose cotransporters. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* **280**(1): F10-18.

115. Bidel, S., Hu, G., Sundvall, J., Kaprio, J., and Tuomilehto, J. 2006. Effects of coffee consumption on glucose tolerance, serum glucose and insulin levels--a cross-sectional analysis. *Horm Metab Res.* **38**(1): 38-43.

116. Shearer, J., Sellars, E.A., Farah, A., Graham, T.E., and Wasserman, D.H. 2007. Effects of chronic coffee consumption on glucose kinetics in the conscious rat. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* **85**(8): 823-830.

117. Bassoli, B.K., Cassolla, P., Borba-Murad, G.R., Constantin, J., Salgueiro-Pagadigorria, C.L., Bazotte, R.B., et al. 2008. Chlorogenic acid reduces the plasma glucose peak in the oral glucose tolerance test: effects on hepatic glucose release and glycaemia. *Cell Biochem Funct.* **26**(3): 320-8 118. Wolever, T.M., Jenkins, D.J., Jenkins, A.L., and Josse, R.G. 1991. The glycemic index: methodology and clinical implications. *Am J Clin Nutr.* **54**(5): 846-854.

119. Hemmerle, H., Burger, H.J., Below, P., Schubert, G., Rippel, R., Schindler, P.W., et al. 1997. Chlorogenic acid and synthetic chlorogenic acid derivatives: novel inhibitors of hepatic glucose-6-phosphate translocase. *J Med Chem.* **40**(2): 137-145.

120. Arion, W.J., Canfield, W.K., Ramos, F.C., Schindler, P.W., Burger, H.J., Hemmerle, H., et al. 1997. Chlorogenic acid and hydroxynitrobenzaldehyde: new inhibitors of hepatic glucose 6-phosphatase. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* **339**(2): 315-322.

121. Wurzner, H.P., Lindstrom, E., Vuataz, L., and Luginbuhl, H. 1977. A 2-year feeding study of instant coffees in rats. II. Incidence and types of neoplasms. *Food Cosmet Toxicol.* **15**(4): 289-296.

122. Whitcomb, D.C., and Lowe, M.E. 2007. Human pancreatic digestive enzymes. *Dig Dis Sci.* **52**(1): 1-17.

123. Lebenthal, E. 1987. Role of salivary amylase in gastric and intestinal digestion of starch. *Dig Dis Sci.* **32**(10): 1155-1157.

124. Gray, G.M. 1992. Starch digestion and absorption in nonruminants. *J Nutr.* **122**(1): 172-177.

125. Wright, E.M., Hirayama, B.A., and Loo, D.F. 2007. Active sugar transport in health and disease. *J Intern Med.* **261**(1): 32-43.

126. Wright, E.M., Martin, M.G., and Turk, E. 2003. Intestinal absorption in health and disease--sugars. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol.* **17**(6): 943-956.

127. Kobayashi, Y., Suzuki, M., Satsu, H., Arai, S., Hara, Y., Suzuki, K., et al. 2000. Green tea polyphenols inhibit the sodium-dependent glucose transporter of intestinal epithelial cells by a competitive mechanism. *J Agric Food Chem.* **48**(11): 5618-5623.

128. Schinner, S., Scherbaum, W.A., Bornstein, S.R., and Barthel, A. 2005. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance. *Diabet Med.* **22**(6): 674-682.

129. Barthel, A., and Schmoll, D. 2003. Novel concepts in insulin regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* **285**(4): E685-692.

130. Elrick, H., Hlad, C.J., Arai, Y., and Stimmler, L. 1964. Plasma Insulin Response to Oral + Intravenous Glucose Administration. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **24**(10): 1076-1082.

131. Baggio, L.L., and Drucker, D.J. 2007. Biology of Incretins: GLP-1 and GIP. *Gastroenterology*. **132**(6): 2131-2157.

132. Creutzfeldt, W. 2005. The [pre-] history of the incretin concept. *Regul Pept.* **128**(2): 87-91.

133. Nauck, M.A., Bartels, E., Orskov, C., Ebert, R., and Creutzfeldt, W. 1993. Additive insulinotropic effects of exogenous synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide infused at near-physiological insulinotropic hormone and glucose concentrations. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **76**(4): 912-917.

134. Roberge, J.N., and Brubaker, P.L. 1993. Regulation of intestinal proglucagonderived peptide secretion by glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide in a novel enteroendocrine loop. *Endocrinology*. **133**(1): 233-240.

135. Takeda, J., Seino, Y., Tanaka, K., Fukumoto, H., Kayano, T., Takahashi, H., et al. 1987. Sequence of an intestinal cDNA encoding human gastric inhibitory polypeptide precursor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. **84**(20): 7005-7008.

136. Ugleholdt, R., Poulsen, M.L., Holst, P.J., Irminger, J.C., Orskov, C., Pedersen, J., et al. 2006. Prohormone convertase 1/3 is essential for processing of the glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide precursor. *J Biol Chem.* **281**(16): 11050-11057.

137. Schieldrop, P.J., Gelling, R.W., Elliot, R., Hewitt, J., Kieffer, T.J., McIntosh, C.H.S., et al. 1996. Isolation of a murine glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) cDNA from a tumor cell line (STC6-14) and quantification of glucose-induced increases in GIP mRNA. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Structure and Expression*. **1308**(2): 111-113.

138. Bell, G.I., Sanchez-Pescador, R., Laybourn, P.J., and Najarian, R.C. 1983. Exon duplication and divergence in the human preproglucagon gene. *Nature*. **304**(5924): 368-371.

139. Holst, J.J. 2007. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol Rev.* 87(4): 1409-1439.

140. Gautier, J.F., Fetita, S., Sobngwi, E., and Salaün-Martin, C. 2005. Biological actions of the incretins GIP and GLP-1 and therapeutic perspectives in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes & Metabolism.* **31**(3): 233-242.

141. Usdin, T.B., Mezey, E., Button, D.C., Brownstein, M.J., and Bonner, T.I. 1993. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor, a member of the secretin-vasoactive intestinal peptide receptor family, is widely distributed in peripheral organs and the brain. *Endocrinology.* **133**(6): 2861-2870.

142. Bullock, B.P., Heller, R.S., and Habener, J.F. 1996. Tissue distribution of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding the rat glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor. *Endocrinology*. **137**(7): 2968-2978.

143. Wang, Y., Montrose-Rafizadeh, C., Adams, L., Raygada, M., Nadiv, O., and Egan, J.M. 1996. GIP regulates glucose transporters, hexokinases, and glucose-induced insulin secretion in RIN 1046-38 cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* **116**(1): 81-87.

144. Fujioka, K. 2007. Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes and the role of incretin hormones and beta-cell dysfunction. *JAAPA*. **Dec**(Suppl): 3-8.

145. Meece, J. 2007. Pancreatic islet dysfunction in type 2 diabetes: a rational target for incretin-based therapies. *Curr Med Res Opin.* **23**(4): 933-944.

146. Meier, J.J., Nauck, M.A., Schmidt, W.E., and Gallwitz, B. 2002. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide: the neglected incretin revisited. *Regul Pept.* **107**(1-3): 1-13.

147. Deacon, C.F. 2005. What do we know about the secretion and degradation of incretin hormones? *Regul Pept.* **128**(2): 117-124.

148. Ahren, B., and Holst, J.J. 2001. The cephalic insulin response to meal ingestion in humans is dependent on both cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms and is important for postprandial glycemia. *Diabetes*. 50(5): 1030-1038.

149. Flaten, O., Sand, T., and Myren, J. 1982. Beta-adrenergic stimulation and blockade of the release of gastric inhibitory polypeptide and insulin in man. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* **17**(2): 283-288.

150. Salera, M., Pironi, L., Giacomoni, P., Venturi, S., Capelli, M., Miglioli, M., et al. 1982. Effect of somatostatin on fasting and glucose-stimulated gastric inhibitory polypeptide release in man. *Digestion.* **24**(2): 126-132.

151. Jia, X., Brown, J.C., Kwok, Y.N., Pederson, R.A., and McIntosh, C.H. 1994. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36) amide exert similar effects on somatostatin secretion but opposite effects on gastrin secretion from the rat stomach. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* **72**(10): 1215-1219.

152. Falko, J.M., Crockett, S.E., Cataland, S., and Mazzaferri, E.L. 1975. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) stimulated by fat ingestion in man. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **41**(2): 260-265.

153. Cataland, S., Crockett, S.E., Brown, J.C., and Mazzafer.El. 1974. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) stimulation by oral glucose in man. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **39**(2): 223-228.

154. Elliott, R.M., Morgan, L.M., Tredger, J.A., Deacon, S., Wright, J., and Marks, V. 1993. Glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36)amide and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide secretion in response to nutrient ingestion in man: acute post-prandial and 24-h secretion patterns. *J Endocrinol.* **138**(1): 159-166.

155. Deacon, C.F., Johnsen, A.H., and Holst, J.J. 1995. Degradation of glucagon-like peptide-1 by human plasma in vitro yields an N-terminally truncated peptide that is a major endogenous metabolite in vivo. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **80**(3): 952-957.

156. Cummings, D.E., and Overduin, J. 2007. Gastrointestinal regulation of food intake. *J Clin Invest.* **117**(1): 13-23.

157. Vilsboll, T., Krarup, T., Sonne, J., Madsbad, S., Volund, A., Juul, A.G., et al. 2003. Incretin secretion in relation to meal size and body weight in healthy subjects and people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **88**(6): 2706-2713.

158. Mortensen, K., Christensen, L.L., Holst, J.J., and Orskov, C. 2003. GLP-1 and GIP are colocalized in a subset of endocrine cells in the small intestine. *Regulatory Peptides*. **114**(2-3): 189-196.

159. Deacon, C.F., Nauck, M.A., Meier, J., Hucking, K., and Holst, J.J. 2000. Degradation of endogenous and exogenous gastric inhibitory polypeptide in healthy and in type 2 diabetic subjects as revealed using a new assay for the intact peptide. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **85**(10): 3575-3581.

160. Knudsen, L.B., and Pridal, L. 1996. Glucagon-like peptide-1-(9-36) amide is a major metabolite of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide after in vivo administration to dogs, and it acts as an antagonist on the pancreatic receptor. *Eur J Pharmacol.* **318**(2-3): 429-435.

161. Hansen, L., Deacon, C.F., Orskov, C., and Holst, J.J. 1999. Glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36)amide is transformed to glucagon-like peptide-1-(9-36)amide by dipeptidyl peptidase IV in the capillaries supplying the L cells of the porcine intestine. *Endocrinology*, **140**(11): 5356-5363.

162. Flint, A., Raben, A., Astrup, A., and Holst, J.J. 1998. Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. *J Clin Invest*. **101**(3): 515-520.

163. Nauck, M.A., Niedereichholz, U., Ettler, R., Holst, J.J., Orskov, C., Ritzel, R., et al. 1997. Glucagon-like peptide 1 inhibition of gastric emptying outweighs its insulinotropic effects in healthy humans. *Am J Physiol.* **273**(5 Pt 1): E981-988.

164. Anini, Y., and Brubaker, P.L. 2003. Role of leptin in the regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *Diabetes*, **52**(2): 252-259.

165. Dupas, C.J., Marsset-Baglieri, Agnès C., Ordonaud, Claire S., Ducept, Fabrice M. G., Maillard, Marie-Noëlle. 2006. Coffee Antioxidant Properties: Effects of Milk Addition and Processing Conditions *Journal of Food Science* **71**(3): S253–S258.

166. Soriguer, F., Rojo-Martinez, G., and de Antonio, I.E. 2004. Coffee consumption and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med.* **141**(4): 321.

167. Battram, D.S., Arthur, R., Weekes, A., and Graham, T.E. 2006. The glucose intolerance induced by caffeinated coffee ingestion is less pronounced than that due to alkaloid caffeine in men. *J Nutr.* **136**(5): 1276-1280.

168. Rodriguez de Sotillo, D.V., Hadley, M., and Sotillo, J.E. 2006. Insulin receptor exon 11+/- is expressed in Zucker (fa/fa) rats, and chlorogenic acid modifies their plasma insulin and liver protein and DNA. *J Nutr Biochem.* **17**(1): 63-71.

169. Ochiai, R., Jokura, H., Suzuki, A., Tokimitsu, I., Ohishi, M., Komai, N., et al. 2004. Green coffee bean extract improves human vasoreactivity. *Hypertens Res.* **27**(10): 731-737.

170. Bassoli, B.K., Cassolla, P., Borba-Murad, G.R., Constantin, J., Salgueiro-Pagadigorria, C.L., Bazotte, R.B., et al. 2008. Chlorogenic acid reduces the plasma glucose peak in the oral glucose tolerance test: effects on hepatic glucose release and glycaemia. *Cell Biochem Funct.* **26**(3): 320-328.

171. Remage-Healey, L., and Romero, L.M. 2001. Corticosterone and insulin interact to regulate glucose and triglyceride levels during stress in a bird. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* **281**(3): R994-1003.

172. Cyr, N.E., Earle, K., Tam, C., and Romero, L.M. 2007. The effect of chronic psychological stress on corticosterone, plasma metabolites, and immune responsiveness in European starlings. *Gen Comp Endocrinol.* **154**(1-3): 59-66.

173. Sapolsky, R.M., Romero, L.M., and Munck, A.U. 2000. How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. *Endocr Rev.* **21**(1): 55-89.

174. Halseth, A.E., Bracy, D.P., and Wasserman, D.H. 1998. Limitations to exerciseand maximal insulin-stimulated muscle glucose uptake. *J Appl Physiol.* **85**(6): 2305-2313.

175. Porsgaard, T., Straarup, E.M., and Hoy, C.E. 2003. Gastric emptying in rats following administration of a range of different fats measured as acetaminophen concentration in plasma. *Ann Nutr Metab.* **47**(3-4): 132-138.

176. Hatanaka, S., Kondoh, M., Kawarabayashi, K., and Furuhama, K. 1994. The measurement of gastric emptying in conscious rats by monitoring serial changes in serum acetaminophen level. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods*. **31**(3): 161-165.

177. Balkan, B., Kwasnik, L., Miserendino, R., Holst, J.J., and Li, X. 1999. Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase IV with NVP-DPP728 increases plasma GLP-1 (7-36 amide) concentrations and improves oral glucose tolerance in obese Zucker rats. *Diabetologia*. **42**(11): 1324-1331.

178. Brand-Miller, J.C., Stockmann, K., Atkinson, F., Petocz, P., and Denyer, G. 2009. Glycemic index, postprandial glycemia, and the shape of the curve in healthy subjects: analysis of a database of more than 1,000 foods. *Am J Clin Nutr.* **89**(1): 97-105.

179. Brand-Miller, J., Hayne, S., Petocz, P., and Colagiuri, S. 2003. Low-glycemic index diets in the management of diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Diabetes Care.* **26**(8): 2261-2267.

180. Fehmann, H.C., Goke, B., Goke, R., Trautmann, M.E., and Arnold, R. 1989. Synergistic stimulatory effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide and glucosedependent insulin-releasing polypeptide on the endocrine rat pancreas. *FEBS Lett.* **252**(1-2): 109-112.

181. Siegel, E.G., Schulze, A., Schmidt, W.E., and Creutzfeldt, W. 1992. Comparison of the effect of GIP and GLP-1 (7-36amide) on insulin release from rat pancreatic islets. *Eur J Clin Invest.* **22**(3): 154-157.

182. Elahi, D., McAloon-Dyke, M., Fukagawa, N.K., Meneilly, G.S., Sclater, A.L., Minaker, K.L., et al. 1994. The insulinotropic actions of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-37) in normal and diabetic subjects. *Regul Pept.* **51**(1): 63-74.

183. Vilsboll, T., Krarup, T., Deacon, C.F., Madsbad, S., and Holst, J.J. 2001. Reduced postprandial concentrations of intact biologically active glucagon-like peptide 1 in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes*. **50**(3): 609-613.

184. Badary, O.A., Awad, A.S., Sherief, M.A., and Hamada, F.M. 2006. In vitro and in vivo effects of ferulic acid on gastrointestinal motility: inhibition of cisplatin-induced delay in gastric emptying in rats. *World J Gastroenterol.* **12**(33): 5363-5367.

185. Almeida, A.A., Farah, A., Silva, D.A., Nunan, E.A., and Gloria, M.B. 2006. Antibacterial activity of coffee extracts and selected coffee chemical compounds against enterobacteria. *J Agric Food Chem.* **54**(23): 8738-8743. 186. Feng, R., Lu, Y., Bowman, L.L., Qian, Y., Castranova, V., and Ding, M. 2005. Inhibition of activator protein-1, NF-kappaB, and MAPKs and induction of phase 2 detoxifying enzyme activity by chlorogenic acid. *J Biol Chem.* **280**(30): 27888-27895.

187. Johnston, K., Sharp, P., Clifford, M., and Morgan, L. 2005. Dietary polyphenols decrease glucose uptake by human intestinal Caco-2 cells. *FEBS Lett.* **579**(7): 1653-1657.

188. Park, J.G., Oie, H.K., Sugarbaker, P.H., Henslee, J.G., Chen, T.R., Johnson, B.E., et al. 1987. Characteristics of cell lines established from human colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* **47**(24 Pt 1): 6710-6718.

189. Reimer, R.A., Darimont, C., Gremlich, S., Nicolas-Metral, V., Ruegg, U.T., and Mace, K. 2001. A human cellular model for studying the regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *Endocrinology*, **142**(10): 4522-4528.

190. de Bruine, A.P., Dinjens, W.N., van der Linden, E.P., Pijls, M.M., Moerkerk, P.T., and Bosman, F.T. 1993. Extracellular matrix components induce endocrine differentiation in vitro in NCI-H716 cells. *Am J Pathol.* **142**(3): 773-782.

191. Jang, H.J., Kokrashvili, Z., Theodorakis, M.J., Carlson, O.D., Kim, B.J., Zhou, J., et al. 2007. Gut-expressed gustducin and taste receptors regulate secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. **104**(38): 15069-15074.

192. Tunnicliffe, J.M., and Shearer, J. 2008. Coffee, glucose homeostasis, and insulin resistance: physiological mechanisms and mediators. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* **33**(6): 1290-1300.

193. Cheeseman, C.I. 1997. Upregulation of SGLT-1 transport activity in rat jejunum induced by GLP-2 infusion in vivo. *Am J Physiol.* **273**(6 Pt 2): R1965-1971.

194. Drozdowski, L.A., Clandinin, M.T., and Thomson, A.B. 2009. Morphological, kinetic, membrane biochemical and genetic aspects of intestinal enteroplasticity. *World J Gastroenterol.* **15**(7): 774-787.

195. Dyer, J., Daly, K., Salmon, K.S., Arora, D.K., Kokrashvili, Z., Margolskee, R.F., et al. 2007. Intestinal glucose sensing and regulation of intestinal glucose absorption. *Biochem Soc Trans.* **35**(Pt 5): 1191-1194.

196. Drozdowski, L., Woudstra, T., Wild, G., Clandindin, M.T., and Thomson, A.B. 2003. The age-associated decline in the intestinal uptake of glucose is not accompanied by changes in the mRNA or protein abundance of SGLT1. *Mech Ageing Dev.* **124**(10-12): 1035-1045.

197. Young, G.S., and Kirkland, J.B. 2007. Rat models of caloric intake and activity: relationships to animal physiology and human health. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* **32**(2): 161-176.

198. Cao, X., Gibbs, S.T., Fang, L., Miller, H.A., Landowski, C.P., Shin, H.C., et al. 2006. Why is it challenging to predict intestinal drug absorption and oral bioavailability in human using rat model. *Pharm Res.* 23(8): 1675-1686.

199. Reimann, F., and Gribble, F.M. 2002. Glucose-sensing in glucagon-like peptide-1-secreting cells. *Diabetes*, **51**(9): 2757-2763.

200. Cao, X., Flock, G., Choi, C., Irwin, D.M., and Drucker, D.J. 2003. Aberrant regulation of human intestinal proglucagon gene expression in the NCI-H716 cell line. *Endocrinology*, **144**(5): 2025-2033.

201. Jones, I.R., Owens, D.R., Luzio, S.D., and Hayes, T.M. 1989. Obesity is associated with increased post-prandial GIP levels which are not reduced by dietary restriction and weight loss. *Diabete Metab.* **15**(1): 11-22.

202. van Dijk, A.E., Olthof, M.R., Meeuse, J.C., Seebus, E., Heine, R.J., and van Dam, R.M. 2009. Acute effects of decaffeinated coffee and the major coffee components chlorogenic acid and trigonelline on glucose tolerance. *Diabetes Care*, **32**(6): 1023-1025.

203. Hidalgo, I.J., Raub, T.J., and Borchardt, R.T. 1989. Characterization of the human colon carcinoma cell line (Caco-2) as a model system for intestinal epithelial permeability. *Gastroenterology*, **96**(3): 736-749.

204. Shimizu, M., Kobayashi, Y., Suzuki, M., Satsu, H., and Miyamoto, Y. 2000. Regulation of intestinal glucose transport by tea catechins. *Biofactors*, **13**(1-4): 61-65.

205. Harris, D.S., Slot, J.W., Geuze, H.J., and James, D.E. 1992. Polarized distribution of glucose transporter isoforms in Caco-2 cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. **89**(16): 7556-7560.

206. Mahraoui, L., Rodolosse, A., Barbat, A., Dussaulx, E., Zweibaum, A., Rousset, M., et al. 1994. Presence and differential expression of SGLT1, GLUT1, GLUT2, GLUT3 and GLUT5 hexose-transporter mRNAs in Caco-2 cell clones in relation to cell growth and glucose consumption. *Biochem J.* **298** (Pt 3): 629-633.

207. Sclafani, A. 2007. Sweet taste signaling in the gut. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. **104**(38): 14887-14888.

208. Tang, S.C., and Sambanis, A. 2004. Differential rAAV2 transduction efficiencies and insulin secretion profiles in pure and co-culture models of human enteroendocrine L-cells and enterocytes. *J Gene Med.* 6(9): 1003-1013.

APPENDIX A: ETHICAL APPROVAL



.

.

ŝ

Protocol Bl 2008-42

.

Certification of Animal Protocol Approval					
Applicant:	Jane Shearer				
Faculty/Department:	Kinesiology				
Project Title:	The link between coffee and type 2 diabetes: chlorogenic				
acid and acute benefit	s on blood glucose management in male Sprague Dawley rate				
Sponsoring Agency(s)	UCRG Starter Grant				
Effective: <u>April 1, 2</u>	009 Expires: <u>March 31, 2010</u>				
	The Animal Care Committee,				
having	examined the animal care and treatment protocol,				
approves	the experimental procedures proposed and certifies				
with the applicant that the care and treatment of animals					
used will be in accordance with the principles					
	outlined in the most recent policies and				
"Guid	e to the Care and Use of Experimental Animals"				
_	By The Canadian Council on Animal Care.				
	July 2/09				
Applicant	Date /				
LA	July 209				
Chair of Animal Care Com	nitte 6 or Date Date Date Date Date Date Date Date				

Original - ACC File

Ingredient	g/100g	kcal/g	kcal/100g	% kcal
Corn Starch	33.41	3.60	120.28	29.40
Sucrose	30.71	4.00	122.84	30.03
Protein (casein)	14.00	3.60	50.40	12.32
Lard	5.00	9.00	45.00	11.00
Soybean Oil	7.00	9.00	63.00	15.40
Dyetrose	5.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
AIN-93M Mineral Mix	3.50	0.84	2.94	0.72
AIN-93-VX Vitamin Mix	1.00	3.87	3.87	0.95
L-Cystine	0.18	4.00	0.72	0.18
Choline bitartrate	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00
Totals	100.00		409.05	100.00

APPENDIX B: ORAL GAVAGE COMPOSITION

Macronutrient summary

Carbohydrate (59%) - Corn Starch

- Sucrose -

Protein (12%)

- Casein -
- L-Cystine -

- Fat (25%) Soybean oil Lard

.